FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS OF 5'-FLANKING REGION OF CYTOCHROME P450 GENES THROUGH MOLECULAR CLONING AND TRANSFECTION *IN VITRO* AND *IN VIVO*

by

Mohammed S. Al-Dosari

Pharm B.S., King Saud University, 1996

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

School of Pharmacy in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

University of Pittsburgh

2005

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF PHARMACY

This dissertation was presented

by

Mohammed S. Al-Dosari

It was defended on

April 5, 2005

and approved by

Dexi Liu, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Marjorie Romkes, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Medicine

Paul L. Schiff, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Wen Xie, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Dissertation Director: Joseph E. Knapp, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS OF 5'-FLANKING REGION OF CYTOCHROME P450 GENES THROUGH MOLECULAR CLONING AND TRANSFECTION *IN VITRO* AND *IN VIVO*

Mohammed S. Al-Dosari, Ph.D.

University of Pittsburgh, 2005

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes are an important class of heme-containing proteins that catalyze oxidation reactions leading toward the removal of a wide variety of endogenous and exogenous substrates including prescription drugs. The activities of CYP enzymes are regulated primarily at the transcription level involving the regulatory sequences at the 5'-flanking region of the CYP genes. The objective of this dissertation study was to characterize the function of the 5'-flanking sequences of selected CYP genes primarily responsible for drug metabolism.

Various sequences from the 5'-flanking regions of different CYP genes (CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C18, CYP2D6, CYP2E1, and CYP3A4) were cloned in expression vectors and tested for their activity in driving reporter gene expression in mouse livers and in transfected HepG2, 293, and BL-6 cells under optimized conditions. It was demonstrated that among the tested 5'-flanking regions of CYP genes, the CYP2D6 promoter showed the highest activity both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The activities of various 5'-flanking regions of CYP genes in sustaining transgene expression were then tested in mouse liver and compared to those of other promoter sequences. As a result, the CYP2D6 promoter showed the highest activity and its activity was comparable to that of many established promoters. The mechanism

underlying CYP promoter activities *in vivo* and *in vitro* were then studied using the CYP2C9 promoter as a model. Activities of various 5'-flanking sequences of CYP2C9 were evaluated by using deletion mutations of plasmid constructs in combination with transfection in mouse livers and in HepG2 cells. Finally, the role of PXR and CAR nuclear receptors in regulating CYP2C9 activation was investigated. The results show that both CAR and PXR are essential for CYP2C9 activation and that the regulatory elements reside in the proximal 1-2 kb region upstream of the CYP2C9 gene.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
ABSTRACT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	. viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	xi
LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1 BACKGROUND	1
1.2 CYTOCHROME P450 ENZYMES	3
1.2.1 Regulation of CYP Expression	8
1.2.2 Systems Used to Assess the Induction of CYP	12
1.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	16
MATERIALS AND METHODS	17
2.1 MATERIALS	17
2.2 METHODS	18
2.2.1 Plasmid Construction	18
2.2.2 Cell Culture and Transfection	24
2.2.3 Hydrodynamic Transfection of Animals	24
2.2.4 Luciferase Assay	25
2.2.5 Analysis of Serum hAAT by ELISA	25
2.2.6 Analysis of Green Fluorescent Protein Gene Expression	26
2.2.7 Analysis of DNA by Southern Blot	27
2.2.8 Northern Blot Analysis	28
EVALUATION OF RELATIVE PROMOTER STRENGTH OF HUMAN CYTOCHRO	ME
P450 GENES USING OPTIMIZED TRANSFECTION IN VITRO AND IN VIVO	29
3.1 INTRODUCTION	29
3.2 RESULTS	31
3.2.1 Optimization of Transfection Conditions	31
3.2.2 Comparison of the Relative Strength of CYP Promoters	37
3.3 DISCUSSION	46
EVALUATION OF THE ACTIVITIES OF CYTOCHROME P450 PROMOTERS IN	
SUSTAINING TRANSGENE EXPRESSION IN VIVO	51
4.1 INTRODUCTION	51
4.2 RESULTS	52
4.2.1 Activity of CYP Promoters in Sustaining Transgene Expression	52
4.2.2 Persistence of Plasmid DNA in Mouse Liver	59
4.2.3 Analysis of Transgene mRNA Levels of Plasmid Constructs in Mouse Liver	61
4.3 DISCUSSION	63
IN VIVO ACTIVATION OF HUMAN CYP2C9 PROMOTER IN MOUSE LIVER AND)
THE ESSENTIAL ROLE OF CAR AND PXR	69

5.1 INTRODUCTION	59
5.2 RESULTS	71
5.2.1 Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver and in	
HepG27	/1
5.2.2 Activation of CYP2C9 5'-Flanking Region by CYP Inducers and the Major Role	
of PXR and CAR7	/6
5.2.3 Activity of CYP2C9 5'-Flanking Region in Sustaining the Transgene Expression	
	32
5.2.4 Identification of the Functional Elements in 5'-Flanking Region of CYP2C9	
Required for PXR/CAR-Mediated Induction8	34
5.3 DISCUSSION	39
SUMMARY AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE9)5
BIBLIOGRAPHY10)()

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Human CYP Families and Their Functions	7
Table 2. Expression Sites of CYP Enzymes	7
Table 3. Substrate Probes Used to Assess CYP Activities in Human	15
Table 4. Cloned Regions, Primers, and Digestion Enzymes Used in CYP Plasmid	
Construction	22
Table 5. Cloned Regions, Primers, and Digestion Enzymes Used in CYP2C9 Plasmid	
Construction	23

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Effect of PEI Amount on Overall Level of Transgene Expression among Various	3
Cell Lines.	33
Figure 2. Transfection Efficiency on HepG2 Cells.	34
Figure 3. Transfection Efficiency on BL-6 Cells	35
Figure 4. Transfection Efficiency on 293 Cells.	36
Figure 5. Activity of CYP Promoters in HepG2 Cells	38
Figure 6. Activity of CYP Promoters in BL-6 Cells	39
Figure 7. Activity of CYP Promoters in 293 Cells.	40
Figure 8. Transfection Efficiency on Mouse Hepatocytes	42
Figure 9. Activity of CYP Promoters in Various Mouse Organs.	44
Figure 10. Relative Strength of CYP Promoters in Mouse Liver.	45
Figure 11. Activity of the Hepatic Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene Expression	54
Figure 12. Activity of the CYP Promoters in Sustaining hAAT Gene Expression	55
Figure 13. Activity of the Viral Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene Expression	56
Figure 14. Activities of the Non-hepatic Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene	
Expression	57
Figure 15. Activities of the Stress-Responsive Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene	
Expression	58
Figure 16. Southern Blot Analysis of Plasmid DNA in Transfected Mouse Liver	60
Figure 17. Transgene mRNA Analysis in Mouse Liver.	62
Figure 18. Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver	73
Figure 19. Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in HepG2 Cells	74
Figure 20. Effect of Plasmid Amount and Size on Promoter Activity in Mouse Liver	75
Figure 21. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in Mouse Liver	78
Figure 22. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'FR in HepG2 Cells	79
Figure 23. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'FR in Mouse Liver	80
Figure 24. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in HepG2 Cells	81
Figure 25. Activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in Sustaining Transgene Expression in Mouse Liver	:.83
Figure 26. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of Various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 in Mor	use
Liver	85
Figure 27. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of Various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 in Hep	bG2
Cells.	86
Figure 28. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of	2
CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver.	87
Figure 29. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activities of Various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 in	
HepG2 Cells	88

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5'-FR	5'-flanking region
5'-FS	5'-flanking sequence
ACT	beta actin
ADR	adverse drug reaction
AhR	aryl-hydrocarbon receptor
APP	amyloid precursor protein
ARNT	AhR-nuclear translocator
BAC	bacterial artificial chromosome
BOP	TCPOBOP or 1,4-bis[2-(3,5-Dichloropyridyloxy)]benzene
BSA	bovine serum albumin
C/EBP	CCAAT/enhancer binding protein
CAR	constitutive androstane receptor
CAR-RE	CAR-responsive elements
CMV	cytomegalovirus
СҮР	cytochrome P450
DBD	DNA binding domain
DDI	drug-drug interaction
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FXR	farnesol X receptor
GFP	green fluorescent protein
hAAT	human alpha 1-antitrypsin
HNF	hepatic nuclear factor
HS	heat shock
LBD	ligand binding domain
LXR	liver X receptor
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
NFkB	nuclear factor kappa B
РАН	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCN	pregnenolone-16α-carbonitrile
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PEI	polyethylenimine
PHB	phenobarbital
PPAR	peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor
PXR	pregnane X receptor
RIF	rifampicin
RLU	relative light units
RSV	Rous sarcoma virus
RXR	retinoid X receptor

SA	serum albumin
SRC-1	steroid receptor coactivator-1
TE	Tris-EDTA
VDR	vitamin D receptor
XRE	xenobiotic responsive element

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, all praise and glory are due to Allah for all bounties granted to me and with God's guidance and help this achievement became possible.

I am very much indebted to many individuals who have helped and supported me during the past few years. I am particularly thankful to Dr. Joseph E. Knapp and Dr. Dexi Liu for their great guidance, advice, and support. I am very grateful to all my committee members, Dr. Marjorie Romkes, Dr. Paul L. Schiff, and Dr. Wen Xie for their support and valuable suggestions. I also would like to thank Dr. Liu's lab members for their help with different aspects of this work.

I am grateful to my father, Salem, and my mother, Rifaa, for their prayers, patience, and unlimited support. My thanks and regards also goes to my wife, Abeer, for her love, encouragement, and support. My sincere love and prayers to my son, Abdulmalik, and my daughter, Jana, and I wish them a great and successful future.

Finally, I acknowledge King Saud University for providing me with the scholarship and supporting my graduate studies.

LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 BACKGROUND

Before any drug can be approved for the clinical use, extensive studies have to be done to evaluate its efficacy and safety. The safety of drug treatment is a major concern since the adverse drug reactions (ADR's) have been identified as a significant factor in patient mortality. ADR can be defined as "an appreciably harmful or unpleasant reaction, resulting from an intervention related to the use of a medical product, which predicts hazard from future administration and warrants prevention or specific treatment, or alteration of the dosage regiment, or withdrawal of the product" (1). In the United States, ADR's occur in 1 out of 15 patients and represent the fourth to sixth leading cause of death to which 106,000 to 140,000 fatalities per year are attributed (2, 3). Between 1975 and 1999, ADR's led to the withdrawal of 10% of approved drugs from the market (4). The economic burden resulting from drug-related morbidity and mortality exceeded \$177.4 billion in year of 2000 (5). A better understanding of the mechanism of ADR's is necessary to prevent the significant outcomes of such a major health concern.

Drug-drug interactions (DDI's) are a major cause of ADR's, since 20-30% of all ADR's are caused by such interactions (6, 7). DDI's occur when administration of a drug results in undesirable modification of the pharmacological action of a second

concurrently administered drug (8). DDI's can be categorized as either pharmacodynamic or pharmacokinetic. Pharmacodynamic drug interactions occur as result of competition for the same drug receptor site, resulting in synergistic or antagonistic drug action (3, 9). Pharmacokinetic interactions are adverse drug events caused by altered absorption, distribution, metabolism, or excretion (3, 8, 10). The pharmacologic or toxicologic effect of a drug is related to the persisting level of the drug within the body where any modification in that level might alter body's biochemical, biological, and/or physiological homeostasis.

In general, DDI's take place in the liver where most drugs are metabolized and most of the metabolic enzymes are expressed (11, 12). Drug metabolism is carried out by a set of enzymes among which the cytochrome P450 (CYP) family considered to be the most involved. The expression of CYP is susceptible to modification by a variety of factors, including gender, age, genetic makeup, drugs, and dietary or environmental chemicals. Modification in drug metabolism may entail either enzyme induction or inhibition. A variety of ADR's due to induction of CYP have been reported (13). Metabolic reactions commonly yield inactive metabolites, however, metabolites with equal or greater pharmacological or toxicological activity can be generated. Accordingly, the induction in expression of metabolizing enzymes could result in reduced efficacy or induced toxicity (14).

The enzymes of CYP family play an important role in causing DDI's, therefore, investigating their gene expression and understanding the mechanisms of their regulation are critical for preventing ADR's. The biochemistry of drug metabolism

and the roles played by individual CYP enzymes in drug metabolism are important areas of molecular pharmacology and have been studied over the past decade. However, most of these studies were conducted using *in vitro* systems such as cell lines and hepatocytes in primary cultures. Unfortunately, liver specific gene expression is extinguished in these systems since crucial transcription factors are lost in culture. Moreover, cell culture cannot capture the full spectrum of hepatic responses to xenobiotic agents. Although transgenic mice have been useful in the investigation of gene regulation *in vivo*, considerable time, money, and the breeding of large numbers of animals over several generations are required. Therefore, development of an animal system modeling human drug metabolism and allowing identification of potential adverse effects of a drug prior to human use presents an urgent need in healthcare and the pharmaceutical industry. In the following sections a number of aspects of the CYP enzymes, and the systems used to study their regulation are reviewed.

1.2 CYTOCHROME P450 ENZYMES

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes are heme-containing, membrane-bound, and endoplasmic reticulum-located proteins (15, 16) that catalyze the initial step in the oxidative metabolism of a plethora of endogenous (steroids, bile acids, fatty acids, prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and biogenic amines) and exogenous (drugs, carcinogens, dietary supplements, pollutants, pesticides, and environmental chemicals) substances (17-22). They were first named in 1961, because the cytochrome pigment (P) has a 450 nm ultraviolet spectral peak when reduced and bound to carbon monoxide (23-25). The general catalytic reaction cycle for CYP was first presented in 1971 and can be summarized as $(RH + O_2 + 2H^+ + 2e^- \rightarrow ROH + H_2O)$ where RH represents the drug molecule (26).

Based on similarities in their protein sequences, CYP enzymes have been divided into families and subfamilies (18, 27). Enzymes with \leq 40% sequence similarity are grouped into different families, designated by an Arabic number (e.g. CYP2). The enzymes with 40-55% similarity are grouped into different subfamilies, designated by a letter (e.g. CYP2C). Enzymes with \geq 55% similarity are classified as members of the same subfamily, designated by an Arabic number (e.g. CYP2C9).

Fifty seven functional CYP genes and eighteen families have been identified in humans, among them only the first three families are involved in drug metabolism (23, 28-31). Table 1 summarizes all the known human CYP families along with their functions. A recent study showed that among 403 tested drugs, 25% were eliminated unchanged and 55% were metabolized via CYP enzymes (32). The liver is considered the major site for dug metabolism mediated by CYP (15). The major human hepatic CYP450 enzymes are CYP2C and CYP3A and they account for 20% and 30% of the total CYP protein in the liver. The CYP enzymes CYP1A2, CYP2E1, CYP2A6, CYP2D6, and CYP3B6 account for 13%, 7%, 4%, 2%, and < 1%, respectively (33). The enzymes of CYP3A (mostly CYP3A4) subfamily are responsible for metabolism of 51% of the commonly prescribed drugs, followed by CYP2D6, CYP2C (mostly CYP2C9), CYP1A2, and CYP2E1 which are responsible for metabolism of 24%,

19%, 5%, and 1%, respectively (34). Each of these CYP enzymes has its distinct tissue distribution and genetic expression (Table 2).

The human CYP1A subfamily consists of two members, CYP1A1 and CYP1A2, which are located in chromosome 15 (35). CYP1A2 is expressed almost exclusively in the liver, although low expression has also been detected in the lungs and intestines. CYP1A2 is responsible for bio-activation of nitrosamines, arylamines, polycyclic aromatic amines (PAHs), and aflatoxin B1 into intermediates that can bind DNA and induce mutation (36-39). It has been speculated that 90% of all known procarcinogens are activated by CYP1A1 and CYP1A2 (40). CYP1A2 is responsible for metabolism of some food supplements and drugs such as caffeine and theophylline (41, 42). CYP1A2 expression is highly inducible by cigarette smoking, charbroiled foods, and cruciferous vegetables (43, 44).

The human CYP2C subfamily consists of four genes, CYP2C8, CYP2C9, CYP2C18, and CYP2C19, which are located in chromosome 10 (45). CYP2C9 is the most abundant CYP2C protein expressed in the liver. Lower levels of CYP2C9 expression have been detected in the kidneys and intestines. CYP2C9 is responsible for metabolizing many drugs such as tolbutamide and S-warfarin (46, 47). Its expression is subjected to induction by many drugs including phenobarbital and rifampicin (13, 48).

Within the CYP2D subfamily in humans, CYP2D6 is the only active gene which is located in chromosome 22 (49). CYP2D6 is expressed in the liver and to lesser extent

in the intestines and brain. It is responsible for metabolizing a wide variety of prescribed drugs such as dextromethorphan and debrisoquine (50). The CYP2D6 gene is characterized by its high genetic polymorphism and its resistance to induction (51, 52).

The human CYP2E subfamily contains a single gene, CYP2E1, which is located in chromosome 10 (53). CYP2E1 is expressed mostly in the liver and to a lesser extent in the kidneys and lungs. It is responsible for metabolism of many compounds including ethanol and chlorzoxazone (54, 55). CYP2E1 expression is subject to induction by a variety of compounds such as ethanol and isoniazid (55-57).

The human CYP3A subfamily consists of four genes, CYP3A4, CYP3A5, CYP3A7, and CYP3A43, which are located in chromosome 7 (58). CYP3A4 is highly expressed in the liver and intestines and to a lesser extent in the lungs. CYP3A4 is responsible for metabolism of a wide variety of drugs including nifedipine and erythromycin (59, 60) and bio-activation of many carcinogens such as PAHs and aflatoxin B1 (36, 38). CYP3A4 is the most highly inducible CYP gene, and numerous pharmaceutical compounds, including rifampicin and dexamethasone, are able to enhance the expression of this gene (61, 62).

Table 1. Human CYP Families and Their Func	tions
--	-------

Family	Subfamilies	Genes	Substrates and Functions
CYP1	2	3	Foreign chemicals, arachidonic acid, eicosanoids
CYP2	13	16	Foreign chemicals, arachidonic acid, eicosanoids
CYP3	1	4	Foreign chemicals, arachidonic acid, eicosanoids
CYP4	5	12	Fatty acids, arachidonic acid, eicosanoids
CYP5	1	1	Thromboxane A ₂ synthase
CYP7	2	2	Cholesterol, bile acid synthesis
CYP8	2	2	Prostacyclin synthase, bile-acid synthesis
CYP11	2	3	Steroidogenesis
CYP17	1	1	Steroid 17α-hydroxylase, 17/20-lyase
CYP19	1	1	Aromatase to form estrogen
CYP20	1	1	Unknown
CYP21	1	1	Steroid 21-hydroxylase
CYP24	1	1	Vitamin D ₃ 24-hydroxylase
CYP26	3	3	Retinoic acid hydroxylation
CYP27	3	3	Bile-acid biosynthesis, vitamin D ₃ hydroxylations
CYP39	1	1	24-hydroxycholesterol 7α-hydroxylase
CYP46	1	1	Cholesterol 24-hydroxylase
CYP51	1	1	Lanosterol 14a-desmethylase

Adapted from reference (23)

Table 2. Expression Sites of CYP Enzymes

СҮР	Site of Expression
1A2	Liver (63), brain (64), duodenum (65), umbilical vein (66), lung (67), esophagus (68)
2C9	Liver (69-71), intestine (72), kidney (73)
2D6	Liver (74), intestine (75, 76), brain (77), lung (78), bladder (79), kidney (80)
2E1	Liver (81), kidney (82), lung (83), lymphocytes (84), placenta (85)
3A4	Liver (86-89), small intestine (76, 89, 90), intestine (91), lung (92)

1.2.1 Regulation of CYP Expression

Induction in drug metabolism can be defined as "increase in the amount and/or activity of a drug metabolizing enzyme as result of an exposure to an inducing chemical whatever the underlying mechanism" (93). The induction of CYP was first demonstrated in 1956 following the administration of phenobarbital and 3-methylcholanthrene to animals (94). A few years later, it was found that the induction was attributed to elevation in the transcriptional activity of CYP genes (95, 96). Many CYP subfamilies including CYP1A, CYP2B, CYP2C, and CYP3A, are highly inducible by xenobiotics and their induction is usually tissue specific, rapid, dose-dependent, and reversible (29).

Induction of CYP enzymes can cause clinically significant DDI's. The outcome of enzyme induction depends on the pharmacological activity of the parent compounds and their metabolites. If the parent compound is the active therapeutic agent, then the net effect of enzyme induction will be loss of the pharmacological efficacy. for example, rifampicin increases the CYP3A4-dependent metabolism of cyclosporine resulting in rejection of the transplanted organ by the body (97). On the other hand, when the metabolite is more active than the parent compound, then the induction will increase the chance for toxicity. For example, ethanol increases the CYP2E1-dependent metabolism of acetaminophen resulting in formation of its hepatotoxic metabolite (N-acetyl-p-benzoquinoneimine) (98). The examples mentioned as well as many others all reveal the clinical consequences of CYP induction and suggest that

more studies are required in order to fully understand the mechanisms underlying their regulation.

In the last few years, extensive efforts have been made to understand the molecular mechanisms underlying the expression of CYP enzymes. It has been found that the induction of CYP enzymes is primarily regulated by a group of orphan nuclear receptors. They are called orphans because they were identified without knowing their endogenous or exogenous ligands (32). These receptors share two essential functional domains that include the N-terminal DNA-binding domain (DBD) and the C-terminal ligand-binding domain (LBD) (99). The conserved DBD acts to link the receptor to specific 5'-flanking region (5'-FR) element in its target gene called the xenobiotic responsive element (XRE) (32). The less conserved LBD has at least four functions: ligand binding, binding of co-activators or co-respressors, dimerization, and transactivation (100). Nuclear receptors were considered prime candidates for mediating hepatic drug induction for several reasons (29). First, their ligands are small and lipophilic similar to those of CYP enzymes. They bind to specific DNA elements similar to those found in the 5'-flanking sequences (5'-FSs) of CYP genes. Furthermore, they are expressed in specific tissues where most CYP enzymes are expressed. Finally, they play key roles in many physiological processes in which P450 enzymes are involved.

The most studied nuclear orphan receptor is the pregnane X receptor (PXR). PXR was isolated and identified as a key regulator in CYP3A expression in 1998 (101-103), although recent studies have disclosed its regulatory role for other CYP genes such as CYP2C and CYP2B (104, 105). PXR is expressed predominantly in the liver and

intestines and to a lesser extent in the kidneys and lungs (106). Many chemicals including prescription drugs, steroids, and environmental factors are able to bind and activate PXR (101, 107). For example, the antibiotic rifampicin and the antidepressant herbal product hyperforin are potent PXR activators (108, 109). The biochemical process of PXR activation has been illustrated (99). Upon ligand binding, a conformational change in the LBD creates a co-activator (e.g. steroid receptor coactivator-1, SRC-1) binding surface; and transcriptional activation occurs after recruitment of co-activator to the receptor (100). Subsequently, PXR regulates gene expression by forming a heterodimer with the retinoid X receptor (RXR α) and then regulation is achieved by binding of the PXR-RXRa heterodimer to XRE present in the 5'-FR of the target gene. The unique feature of PXR-mediated induction is its species specificity, primarily due to the differences in LBD (101). For example, rifampicin is a potent activator for human PXR but not the rodent isoform, whereas pregnenolone-16a-carbonitrile (PCN), an anti-glucocorticoid, is a rodent-specific activator. PXR humanized mice have been generated (110) and in these transgenic mice the profile of PXR-based induction was similar to the human profile.

Another important nuclear receptor is the constitutive androstane receptor (CAR). CAR was first isolated in 1994, but its role in CYP2B induction was not appreciated until 1998 (111-113). CAR also can regulate other CYP genes such as CYP3A and CYP2C (114, 115). CAR is expressed predominantly in the liver and intestines and can be activated by many drugs such as phenobarbital and phenytoin. The mechanism of CAR activation is more complex than that of PXR. CAR is cytosolic protein and upon activation, it translocates into the nucleus and forms a heterodimer with RXRα.

Similar to PXR, it is the heterodimer that binds to target gene sequence and activates transcription (116-118). Phenobarbital activates CAR by facilitating its nuclear translocation through a phosphorylation-based mechanism (116, 118, 119). The only molecules shown to directly bind CAR were androstanol and clotrimazole which are inverse agonists that deactivate the response (120). Like PXR, CAR shows species differences in its induction profile, for example 1,4-bis[2-(3,5 dichloropyridyloxy)]benzene (TCPOBOP) was found to be specific mouse CAR activator (120, 121). The broad role of CAR and PXR in regulating many metabolizing enzymes and transporters and cross-regulation of gene expression has been reported (122).

Perhaps the most well studied nuclear receptor is the aryl-hydrocarbon receptor (AhR). For more than thirty years, AhR has been known to be a CYP1A regulator (123-125). AhR is a helix-loop-helix protein that belongs to the polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) family of transcription factors. Similar to CAR, AhR is a cytosolic protein and becomes activated once activated by its ligand. Consequently, the activated receptor translocates into the nucleus, form a heterodimer with its nuclear translocator protein (ARNT), binds to XRE sequences upstream of CYP1 genes, and activates gene transcription (126, 127). AhR-dependent induction is conserved among many cell types and across animal species. A significant number of substances were found to be ligands for AhR including omeprazole as well as several important environmental carcinogens found in auto exhaust and cigarette smoke (128, 129).

Other nuclear receptors are also involved in CYP regulation. For example, the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR α) regulates CYP4A (130-132) and the vitamin D receptor (VDR) regulates CYP3A, CYP2B, CYP2C, and CYP24 (133-135). The liver X receptor (LXR) and the farnesol X receptor (FXR) both regulate the expression of CYP7A (136-138).

Additionally, some transcriptional factors play crucial role in CYP regulation. For example, the hepatic nuclear factor (HNF1 α) regulates the expression of CYP2E1, CYP1A2, CYP7A1, and CYP27 (139) and the HNF4 α regulates CYP3A, CYP2C, CYP2D6, CYP2A6, and CYP2B (140-142). Other transcriptional factors such as the HNF3 γ regulates CYP2C (143) while the CAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) regulates the expression of CYP2B, CYP2D, and CYP2C (144).

1.2.2 Systems Used to Assess the Induction of CYP

The induction of CYP enzymes can be evaluated directly in the human body using different substrate-probes following repeated administration of a putative inducer drugs (Table 3). The metabolic ratio of the probe to its metabolite represents the metabolic activity of a single CYP enzyme. The increase in CYP metabolic activity stimulated by a given drug indicates that the drug is working as an inducer for that specific enzyme. For obvious ethical reasons, the use of human studies is limited only to compounds that are at a late stage of clinical development. Moreover, human trials are expensive and the subjects are difficult to recruit. Such limitations have prompted the use of animals, often rodents, as an alternative to test in humans.

Compared to clinical studies, studies of drug metabolism in animals have provided a plethora of information about animal CYP genes, their enzymatic action, substrate specificity, and gene regulation. Unfortunately, it is now well known that drug metabolism in animals often differs from humans and data obtained from animal studies cannot be directly extrapolated into humans. Differences in the action of important signaling molecules and pathways, the extreme sexual dimorphism of rodent CYP, the marked species differences in the activation profiles of key nuclear receptors, and the differences in the layout of nuclear receptor responsive elements within target genes make it difficult to use animals directly as *in vivo* models to predict the induction of CYP enzymes in humans (145). To minimize such differences, many lines of transgenic animals expressing human CYP genes (CYP3A4, CYP2D6, CYP1B1 and CYP2E1) or nuclear receptors (PXR, CAR, AhR, and PPAR α) have been generated (110, 141, 146-152)

Studies have also been conducted using *in vitro* systems, including purified CYP enzymes, subcellular fractions (microsomes, or cell extracts), hepatoma cell lines, and primary hepatocytes cultures. More complex systems like liver slices and isolated liver have also been employed (12). While cell free systems are convenient and have been widely employed for biochemical studies of CYP, non-cellular systems cannot be used for gene expression studies.

Before the discovery of PXR and CAR, cultured human hepatocytes were considered to be the suitable system to study CYP induction. In these systems, incubation of hepatocytes for 24-72 hours with a compound is followed by assessment of CYP metabolic activities using specific substrates. The activity measured in the induced cells is then compared with that in untreated control cells (153). Despite the positive aspects, the use of hepatocytes has certain disadvantages including their availability, quality, involvement of phase II enzymes, and inter-individual variability toward xenobiotic responses as well as basal CYP expression (145). Furthermore, hepatocytes in primary culture tend to lose their ability to respond to CYP enzyme inducers rather quickly.

A relatively new and more sensitive system for studying CYP induction involves transfection with plasmids containing reporter genes under the control of regulatory sequence of human CYP genes into cells with characteristically low CYP gene and nuclear receptor expression, but exhibiting normal expression of cofactors such as RXR. In general, this approach involves insertion of human CYP regulatory sequences into the immediate 5' end of a reporter gene into a plasmid. The construct is then transfected into cells. Similarly, a plasmid containing the coding region of a nuclear receptor can also be introduced to the same cells through co-transfection. Drug specific induction is determined by the relative level of reporter gene expression over that of cells without drug treatment. The major advantage of the transfection-based approach is its convenience. Since plasmids containing nuclear receptors can be co-transfected with a reporter gene under control of regulatory elements of human CYP genes, various compounds or substances can be tested for their activity in inducing CYP gene expression.

Table 3. Substrate Probes Used to Assess CYP Activities in Human

СҮР	Substrate (Sampling Procedure)
CYP1A2	Caffeine (breath test, urine)
CYP2C9	Tolbutamide (urine), Diclofenac (blood), Phenytoin (blood)
CYP2D6	Sparteine (urine), Debrisoquine (urine), Dextromethorphan (urine)
CYP2E1	Chlorzoxazone (urine, blood)
CYP3A4	Erythromycin (breath test), Dapsone (urine), Midazolam (blood)

Adapted from reference (153)

1.3 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

Many cases of clinically relevant ADR's have been attributed to the induction in CYP expression. As a result, these reactions led to significant mortality and an economic burden. Studies that enable us to understand the mechanism of CYP induction in order to prevent such reactions are critically needed. In addition, to reduce the time and cost of developing new drugs, there is a concerted effort in the pharmaceutical industry to identify potential drug interactions early in the drug discovery process. The difficult process of accurately predicting potential interactions by new drug candidates could be augmented by a procedure through which selected human CYP genes are introduced into a mouse and their responses to the candidate drug studied under the physiological conditions. The work of this dissertation project was designed to establish such an *in vivo* system wherein human CYP gene sequences can be introduced and studied in the hepatocytes of mice. The goal of this study was to establish optimal conditions for transfecting mouse hepatocytes; to validate the system for CYP related studies; and to determine the functional role of 5'-FRs of human CYP genes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 MATERIALS

GeneChoice PCR kits that were used to amplify CYP 5'-FSs of p1A2-luc, p2C9-luc, p2C18-luc, p2D6-luc, p2E1-luc, and p3A4-luc were purchased from PGC Scientific Corporation (Frederick, MD) while PCR primers were designed and ordered from MWG-Biotech (High Point, NC). Failsafe PCR kits that were used to amplify CYP2C9 5'-FSs of p2C9-0.2K-luc, p2C9-1K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-5K-luc, and p2C9-10K-luc were purchased from Epicentre (Madison, WI) while PCR primers were designed and ordered from IDT (Coralville, IA). A BAC clone of RP11-208C17 was obtained from CHORI (Oakland, CA). Luciferase assay kits were purchased from Promega (Madison, WI). The protein assay reagent was from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA). Cell culture media were purchased from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY). Polyethylenimine (PEI) (Branched, 10 KD) was synthesized according to a previously published procedure (154). Rifampicin, phenobarbital, 1,4-bis[2-(3,5-Dichloropyridyloxy)]benzene (TCPOBOP), pregnenolone-16α-carbonitrile (PCN), and DMSO were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Bacto[™]-tryptone, BactoTM-yeast extract, and BactoTM-agar were purchased from Difco (Detroit, MI). Restriction enzymes and T4 DNA ligase were purchased from New England BioLabs (Beverly, MA). All other chemicals were of cell culture grade and obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (Saint Louis, MO). CD-1 mice (female, 18-20 g) were from Charles River (Wilmington, MA).

2.2 METHODS

2.2.1 Plasmid Construction

All 5'-FSs for construction of p1A2-luc, p2C9-luc (or p2C9-2K-luc), p2C18-luc, p2D6-luc, p2E1-luc, p3A4-luc, p2C9-0.2K-luc, p2C9-1K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-5K-luc, and p2C9-10K-luc (all named based on the CYP name or the length of the inserted CYP 5'-FSs) were cloned into pGL3-Basic vector (Promega, Madison, WI). The primers (forward (F) or reverse (R)) for PCR amplification, the cloned CYP 5'-FSs, and the enzymes used in primer sequences modifications are listed in Tables 4 and 5. Primer sequences of p1A2-luc, p2C9-luc, p2C18-luc, p2D6-luc, p2E1-luc, and p3A4-luc were selected based on previously published CYP gene sequences (74, 155-158). All CYP related primers were synthesized with the KpnI or SacI site attached to the 5' end of the forward primer and the MluI, BglII, or XhoI site to the 5' end of the reverse primer, with the exception of the reverse and the forward primers used to generate fragment 1 (F1) and 2 (F2) of p2C9-10-luc, respectively (Table 5). The genomic DNA from human liver was used as the PCR template for 5'-FSs of p1A2luc, p2C9-luc, p2C18-luc, p2D6-luc, p2E1-luc, and p3A4-luc. The BAC clone of RP11-208C17 was used as the PCR template for 5'-FSs of p2C9-0.2K-luc, p2C9-1Kluc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-5K-luc, and p2C9-10K-luc.

On arrival in our laboratory, the BAC clone was inoculated into Luria Broth (LB) culture medium (1% BactoTM-tryptone, 0.5% BactoTM-yeast extract, 1% NaCl) including 20 μ g/ml chloramphenicol, the BAC was then extracted using a Qiagen Plasmid Maxi Kit (Valencia, CA). BAC DNA concentration was measured spectrophotometrically by absorbance at 260 nm and 280 nm. The Identity of the extracted BAC DNA was confirmed by restriction enzymes digestion (*BamHI* or *EcorV*) and by PCR using the extracted BAC DNA as the template and F: CCCACACTGTACGCACAATC and R: GGAGTTGAGAAAAACCAAGGG as primers.

Different strategies were used to clone each 5'-FSs into plasmid vector. To clone CYP 5'-FSs into the pGL3-Basic vector, PCR products of p2C9-0.2K-luc, p2C9-1K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-5K-luc, and p2C9-10K-luc were concentrated by ethanol precipitation, digested with the appropriate enzymes, separated on 1% agarose gel, and the correct fragment extracted with a Qiagen QIAquick gel extraction kit (Valencia, CA). PCR products of p2C9-10K-luc F1 and F2 were purified, digested with *XbaI* (they share the same *XbaI* digestion site), and then ligated together before digestion with *KpnI/XhoI*. The modified PCR products were then ligated to a linear pGL3-Basic vector (linearized with the same pair of restriction enzymes by which the inserted PCR product was digested).

PCR products of p1A2-luc, p2C9-luc, p2C18-luc, p2D6-luc, p2E1-luc, and p3A4-luc were concentrated, purified, and then ligated into pGEM easy vector (Promega,

Madison, WI). Each CYP 5'-FSs in pGEM easy vector was then digested with the proper pair of restriction enzymes, and ligated to linear pGL3-Basic vector.

CYP constructs that contain the human alpha antitrypsin (AAT) reporter gene (p1A2-hAAT, p2C9-hAAT, p2D6-hAAT, and p3A4-hAAT) were cloned by ligating the digested CYP PCR products into linear pGL3-Basic vector from which the luciferase gene was removed using *HindIII / XbaI* and replaced by the hAAT gene. The hAAT gene was amplified by PCR using primers that were designed to include *HindIII* (attached to 5' end of the forward primer) and *XbaI* (attached to 3' end of the reverse primer) cutting sites (F: GCAAGCTTACAATGCCGTCTTCTGTCTCG and R: GCTCTAGACTTTAATGTCATCCAGGGAGGG).

Plasmids of pGL3-Basic vector to which CYP 5'-FSs were ligated were then transformed into *E. coli* DH-5 α by means of a Bio-Rad MicroPulser[®] in a E.coli Pulser Cuvette (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The transformed cells were then spread on LB-1.5% agar plates containing 100 µg/ml ampicillin, and the surviving cells were tested for their inclusion of the right plasmid. Plasmid DNA was extracted from cells either by the DNA boiling procedure or by a Qiagen Plasmid Mini Purification Kit (Valencia, CA). In the DNA boiling procedure, cells were boiled for 1 min in STET buffer (8% sucrose, 0.5% triton X-100, 50 mM EDTA pH 8, 10 mM Tris pH8) containing 50 µg/ml lysozyme, centrifuged (12000 rpm, 1 min, 4°C), and DNA size examined on 1% agarose gel. Plasmid DNA was then confirmed by restriction enzyme digestion, PCR amplification, and sequencing.

Upon plasmid DNA confirmation, CYP plasmids were prepared and extracted in large scale using the lysozyme lysis method and cesium chloride (CsCl) gradient centrifugation (159). Briefly, the transformed E. coli cells were grown in Terrific Broth (TB) culture medium (1.2% BactoTM-tryptone, 2.4% BactoTM-yeast extract, 0.4% glycrol, 17 mM KH₂PO₄, 72 mM K₂HPO₄) containing 100 µg/ml ampicillin and collected by centrifugation (5000 rpm, 5 min, 4°C). Cells were then lysed with solution I (1% glucose, 25 mM Tris pH 8, 20 mM EDTA pH 8) including 100 µg/ml lysozyme, their DNA content denatured by solution II (0.2 M NaOH, 1% SDS), and collected by centrifugation (8000 rpm, 20 min, 4°C). Plasmid DNA was separated from chromosomal DNA and cell debris by solution III (3 M KC₂H₃O₂, 2 M C₂O₂ H₄) and centrifugation (7000 rpm, 20 min, 4°C). Plasmid DNA was then collected and further purified by isopropanol (0.6 X volume) and 5 M LiCl (1X volume) precipitation. The plasmid DNA was then re-suspended into Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0), treated with 50% CsCl and ethidium bromide (0.25 mg/ml), and isolated by gradient centrifugation (64000 rpm, 18 hr, 25°C). Plasmid DNA was later isolated and freed of ethidium bromide by saturated butanol extraction and from CsCl by water dialysis using a Spectrum molecularporous membrane (Rancho Dominguez, CA). Plasmid DNA was then precipitated by ethanol and kept in 0.9% saline solution. The purity of the plasmid DNA was confirmed spectrophotometrically by the ratio of ultraviolet absorbance at 260 and 280 nm as well as by 1% agarose-gel electrophoresis.

The plasmid of pSA-luc was provided by Dr. Weidong Xiao (University of Pennsylvania, School of Medicine). Plasmids of pCMV-luc, pACT-luc, and pCMV-

GFP were provided by Dr. Leaf Huang (University of Pittsburgh, School of Pharmacy). Plasmid of pCMV-EBV-luc was provided by Dr. O Mazda (Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine, Department of Microbiology, Kamikyo Kyoto, Japan). Plasmid of pAAT-luc was provided by Dr. Xiao Xiao (University of Pittsburgh, School of Medicine). Plasmid of pAPP-luc was provided by Dr. Debomoy Lahiri (Indiana University, School of Medicine). Plasmids of p2b10-luc, pCMX-CAR, pCMX-SXR, pCMX-VPCAR, and pCMX-VPSXR were provided by Dr. Wen Xie (University of Pittsburgh, School of Pharmacy). Plasmids of pRSV-luc, pNFkB-luc, and pHS-luc were constructed or provided by members of our laboratory.

Construct	Cloned Region	Primer Sequences	Fnzymes
Construct	Cionea Region	I Timer Sequences	Enzymes
n1A2 luc	-1872/+38	F: GGTACCAAAGCCCACTCCAGTCTAAATC	KnnI/MluI
p1A2-luc		R: AGGCGTTGAGATTGGCAGGGTTGTAATG	Кртилии
m2C0 luc	2145/12	F: GGTACCGATCTCAGATATCCCTTCTATC	VI/MI.I
p2C9-luc	-2143/+2	R: ACGCGTATTGTTGCCTTCTCTTCTTGAC	крпі/ти
p2C18-luc	-1224/-12	F: GGTACCTAGTGTTGCAGTCTTGCAGATC	KpnI/MluI
		R: ACGCGTCTTCTTAGTAAGACAACTGGGG	
p2D6-luc -1516/+ 1	1516/+ 11	F: ATGGTACCAGCCTGGACAACTTGGAAG	VIAAL.I
	-1310/+11	R: ATACGCGTACACTCTCAGCACACCGAG	крпі/шіш
	2(70/+ 4	F: GAGCTCCCCCTACAGTATAAAGTATCCC	
p2E1-luc	-26/0/+4	R: AGATCTGGACAATCCTGTGGAAAGGAAG	Saci/Bgill
p3A4-luc	1000/+05	F: GGTACCCCATCATTGCTGGTCTTTG	
	-1088/+85	R: CTCGAGTCTCTCTCCTCTGAGTCTTC	Kpn1/Xn01

 Table 4. Cloned Regions, Primers, and Digestion Enzymes Used in CYP Plasmid

 Construction

Construct	Cloned Region	Primer Sequences	Enzymes
p2C9_0.2K_luc	_211/+25	F: ATTGAGGTACCAGTGGACAATGGAACGAAGG	KnnI/YhoI
p2C9-0.2K-luc	-211/+23	R: AATTACTCGAGGCACAAGGACCACAAGAGAATC	κρπι/λποι
$p_{2}C_{0} \downarrow K$ hus	1011/+25	F: ATTGAGGTACCCACTGAGCGTTTCACTTCTGC	KnnI/VhoI
p2C9-IK-luc	52C9-1K-luc -1011/+25	R: AATTACTCGAGGCACAAGGACCACAAGAGAATC	краланої
p2C0 3K luc	2024/+25	F: ATTGAGGTACCAAGGAAGGGAGAGAGAACACG	KpnI/XhoI
p2C9-5K-luc	-3024/+23	R: AATTACTCGAGGCACAAGGACCACAAGAGAATC	
$p_{2}C_{0}$ 5K luc	5470/+25	F: ATTGAGGTACCCAGCGAACTAAGAATAGAGGAGG	KnnI/VhoI
p2C9-JK-Iuc	-3470/+23	R: AATTACTCGAGGCACAAGGACCACAAGAGAATC	κρπ/ λποι
p2C0 10V lug (E1)	0000/ 5485	F: ATTGAGGTACCTTGTGGAGGAAGTGAGTCCC	KpnI/XbaI
p2C9-10K-10C(F1)	-9900/-3483	R: GAATGTGTGCTGGATTTAGGC	
p2C9-10K-luc (F2)	6127/225	F: TAGTGAAAGCAGTGGTTAGAGGG	Vhal/Vhal
	-04377+23	R: AATTACTCGAGGCACAAGGACCACAAGAGAATC	<i>λυμ/ληθί</i>

Table 5. Cloned Regions, Primers, and Digestion Enzymes Used in CYP2C9Plasmid Construction

2.2.2 Cell Culture and Transfection

Three cell lines derived from different tissues were used, HepG2 (human hepatoma), 293 (human embryonic kidney fibroblasts) and BL-6 (murine melanoma). BL-6 cells were maintained in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS). HepG2 and 293 cells were cultured in DMEM medium with 10% FBS. For a standard transfection, 5×10^4 cells per well were seeded into a 48-well plate and allowed to grow for 24 hours. For each well, 100 µl of serum free medium containing the desired amount of plasmid DNA was mixed with 125 µl of serum free medium containing an appropriate amount of PEI. The mixture was incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature followed by mixing with 25 µl of FBS. The mixture (250 µl total) was added to each well and the plates incubated for 24 hours. The transfection medium was then replaced with a fresh growth medium containing 10% FBS. Cells were cultured for an additional 24-72 hours to allow for gene expression. Prior to gene expression analysis, cells were washed three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 5.4 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.7 mM NaH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) and lysed with 100 µl lysis buffer (0.1 M Tris-HCl, 0.1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, pH 7.8) at room temperature for 15 minutes. The cell lysates were collected and subjected to centrifugation (12,000 rpm, 10 min, 4°C) and the supernatant was used for measurement of luciferase activity and protein concentration.

2.2.3 Hydrodynamic Transfection of Animals

CD-1 mice (female, 18-20 g) were injected via the tail vein within 3-5 seconds with 1.8 ml of saline solution containing the desired amount of plasmid DNA according to our previously published procedure (160). For the CYP2C9 induction studies, two hours post transfection, animals were injected intraperitoneally with 100 µl DMSO containing rifampicin (200 mg/kg), TCPOBOP (10 mg/kg), phenobarbital (200 mg/kg), or PCN (200 mg/kg). At the indicated time, animals were sacrificed and the desired tissue samples of approximately 200 mg were obtained, homogenized in 1 ml of lysis buffer, and centrifuged (12,000 rpm, 10 min, 4°C). Protein concentration and luciferase activity in the supernatant were then determined.

2.2.4 Luciferase Assay

Ten μ l of cell lysate from either *in vitro* transfected cells or supernatant of tissue homogenate from transfected animals were added to 100 μ l of substrate solution in the luciferase assay kit. Luciferase activity was measured in a luminometer (Autolumat LB953, EG & G, Berthhold, Germany) with the time for the measurement set for 10 seconds. Luciferase activity in each sample was normalized to relative light units (RLU) per mg of extracted protein.

2.2.5 Analysis of Serum hAAT by ELISA

Serum samples were collected from the injected mice at appropriate times and diluted serially with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in PBS-Tween buffer before a standard
ELISA was performed. A rabbit anti-hAAT polyclonal antibody (12.6 µg/ml in carbonate buffer, pH 8.8) was used for coating of the ELISA plate (room temperature, overnight). The coated wells were blocked with 4% BSA in PBS-Tween buffer. After incubation with the diluted serum sample, biotinylated goat anti-hAAT polyclonal antibody (1:1000 dilution in 1% BSA in PBS-Tween buffer) was added and followed by incubation for 1 hour at room temperature. After washing, streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate (1:50000 dilution 1% BSA in PBS-Tween buffer) was then added to each well and incubated for 1 hour. With the exception of blocking buffer (200 μ l per well) and the washing buffer (400 μ l per well), the sample volume used was 100 µl per well. After addition of peroxidase substrate (3,39,5,59tetramethylbenzidine), the absorbency at 450 nm for each well was obtained using an ELISA reader. The hAAT concentration was calculated based on the standard curve established using pure hAAT. To minimize the plate-to-plate variation, a standard curve was established for each of the 96-well plates used. The concentration range for the standard curve was 0-32 ng/ml. The hAAT standard was prepared by dissolving lyophilized hAAT powder in normal mouse serum at a concentration of 500 µg/ml.

2.2.6 Analysis of Green Fluorescent Protein Gene Expression

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) expression in transfected cells in culture or in tissue samples was used to determine the transfection efficiency of the various methods employed. After transfection with a GFP-containing plasmid (pCMV-GFP) and at the indicated time, GFP positive cells were directly identified by fluorescence microscopy using 488 nm for excitation and 510-530 nm for emission. The transmitted light image was recorded simultaneously. The transfection efficiency was estimated by the total number of GFP positive cells divided by the total number of cells in the same field detected under regular light (phase contrast). Approximately 500 cells in randomly selected fields were counted and used for calculation. For GFP expression in animals, liver samples were snap frozen on dry ice after removal from the animal. Tissue sections (10 μ m) were made using a Cryostat and immediately observed under a fluorescence microscope.

2.2.7 Analysis of DNA by Southern Blot

Total DNA was extracted from the homogenized liver cells using DNAZOL[®] reagent following the manufacture's procedure (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). DNA concentration was determined by spectrophotometry at 260 nm. Twenty five micrograms of DNA was digested with *HindIII* and separated on 1% agarose gel using a running buffer of 40 mM boric acid, 0.4 mM EDTA and 6% formaldehyde. The gel was then soaked with a 0.4 M NaOH, 0.6 M NaCl buffer for 30 minutes and incubated at room temperature overnight. DNA bands were transferred to GeneScreen Plus hybridization transfer membrane (MENTM Life Science Products, Boston, MA) using the soaking buffer. The membrane then was soaked with Tris buffer (0.5 M Tris pH 7.0, 1 M NaCl) for 15 minutes. After UV crosslinking, the membrane was pre-hybridized in hybridization buffer (0.25 M NaHPO₄, 0.25 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.25 M SDS, 50% deionized formamide, 0.1 mg/ml salmon sperm ssDNA) at 42°C for 3 hours. The hybridization probe of ³²P-labelled luciferase cDNA made with a Random Primer DNA Labeling Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was then added to the hybridization buffer in a ratio of 10^{6} cpm/ml, and the hybridization reaction was continued for 18 hours. The membrane then was washed with buffer I (0.3 M NaCl, 0.1 M C₂H₃NaO₂, 3.5 mM SDS), buffer II (25 mM NaHPO₄, 1 mM EDTA, 1.4 mM SDS), and buffer III (25 mM NaHPO₄, 1 mM EDTA, 14 mM SDS). The membrane was then dried and subjected to autoradiography.

2.2.8 Northern Blot Analysis

Total RNA was extracted from the homogenized liver cells using Trizol® reagent following the manufacture's procedure (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). RNA concentration was determined by spectrophotometry at 260 nm. Twenty microgram of total RNA was separated on 1% agarose-3% formaldehyde gel using a running buffer of 40 mM boric acid, 0.4 mM EDTA and 6% formaldehyde. RNA bands were transferred to GeneScreen Plus hybridization transfer membrane (MEN[™] Life Science Products, Boston, MA) using a 25 mM NaHPO₄ transfer buffer. After UV crosslinking, the membrane was pre-hybridized in hybridization buffer (0.25 M NaHPO₄, 0.25 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.25 M SDS, 50% deionized formamide, 0.1 mg/ml salmon sperm ssDNA) at 42°C for 3 hours. A hybridization probe of ³²Plabelled luciferase cDNA made with a Random Primer DNA Labeling Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) was then added to the hybridization buffer at a ratio of 10^6 cpm/ml, and the hybridization reaction continued for 18 hours. The membrane was then washed with buffer I (0.3 M NaCl, 0.1 M C₂H₃NaO₂, 3.5 mM SDS), buffer II (25 mM NaHPO₄, 1 mM EDTA, 1.4 mM SDS), buffer III (25 mM NaHPO₄, 1 mM EDTA, 14 mM SDS) and subjected to autoradiography.

EVALUATION OF RELATIVE PROMOTER STRENGTH OF HUMAN CYTOCHROME P450 GENES USING OPTIMIZED TRANSFECTION *IN VITRO* AND *IN VIVO*

3.1 INTRODUCTION

The expression of CYP genes is subject to diverse regulatory controls, which display tissue-specific, sex-specific and developmental patterns. CYP enzymes are primarily expressed in liver hepatocytes, and to a lesser extent, in cells of the intestines, lungs, kidneys, and brain (161). The CYP enzymes are important clinically in maintaining homeostasis by metabolizing invading xenochemicals. Striking differences in the amount and activity of the various CYP enzymes exist among individuals. At least some of these differences are responsible for the inter-individual variability in drug response that results in instances of treatment failure. Genetic mutations in CYP genes have been identified and linked to abnormal drug responses (162). However, less is known about how gene expression differs among the CYP genes.

Certain cytochrome P450s are constitutively expressed and the expression of others is known to be induced by various xenobiotics including prescription drugs. Most CYP regulation is at the transcription level, although post-transcriptional regulation is also seen. Studies on the relative strength of CYP gene promoters may yield information leading toward a better understanding of the polymorphic nature of drug metabolism and aid in maximizing the benefits of drug therapy. Two general approaches have been previously used to estimate the relative strength of CYP gene promoters. The first of these involves measurement of the mRNA or protein level of individual CYP gene products using Northern, Western blot analysis, or substrate-based enzyme activity assays. The second approach involves an *in vitro* transfection of cells with a plasmid containing a reporter gene under the control of a CYP promoter (163, 164). Significant information has been obtained using these approaches. However, since these early studies were conducted by many investigators employing various cell lines and different reporter systems, it is difficult to directly compare the activity of the different CYP promoter sequences that have been studied to date. Furthermore, results from cell lines, primary cell culture and tissue samples obtained from patients suggest that transcription activity varies significantly depending on experimental conditions employed. Thus, progress in developing a cohesive picture of the relative strength of CYP gene promoters has been slow.

Recently, reliable techniques have been developed for *in vitro* transfer of DNA into cells using positively charged liposomes or cationic polymers (165-170). In addition, the method of hydrodynamic delivery for efficient DNA transfer into hepatocytes in mice has also been developed (160). These newer developments, plus the already available molecular biology techniques, provide a convenient means for cloning of CYP gene promoters into reporter containing plasmid constructs and the assessment of their relative promoter strength both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Application of this methodology readily makes possible the side by side comparison of relative promoter strength under the same experimental conditions. In this chapter, we describe optimized conditions for such a comparison in different types of cells *in vitro* and *in*

vivo. Comparison of the activity obtained for a variety of CYP gene promoters demonstrates that, among those tested, the CYP2D6 promoter exhibits the strongest activity. The order of promoter strength was found to be CYP2D6> CYP1A2> CYP3A4> CYP2C9> CYP2C18> CYP2E1. This order of promoter strength is observed *in vitro* in cell lines transfected with the aid of cationic polymers as well as *in vivo* in mouse liver, kidney, heart, lung, and spleen cells following hydrodynamic transfection.

3.2 RESULTS

3.2.1 Optimization of Transfection Conditions

Although PEI has been successfully used to transfer DNA into various types of cells, its activity varies in different cells (171). The ratio of PEI/DNA required for optimal transfection may vary when a fixed dose of plasmid DNA is used for different cell types. Figure 1 shows the effect of varying the total amount of PEI while keeping the amount of plasmid DNA constant at 1 μ g. The peak level of luciferase gene expression was observed at 1.5 μ g of PEI for both 293 and BL-6 cells and was greater than 2.5 μ g for HepG2.

It was also noted that, although the peak level of luciferase expression was obtained with different amounts of PEI, the absolute amount of luciferase expressed by these three types of cells varied (293> BL-6= HepG2). This suggests different levels of

transfectability of these cells by PEI. Of note is a decrease in the level of luciferase activity when the amount of PEI is more than 5 μ g per well. Increasing the amount of PEI over the optimal amount resulted in cellular toxicity morphologically visible after transfection (data not shown).

The percentage of cells transfected with time was determined using a GFP containing plasmid. Figures 2-4 show the images of selected fields under a fluorescence microscope using a FITC filter or regular light. The estimated percentages of GFP positive cells from an approximately 500 cells counted in randomly selected fields were 75% for 293 cells, 60% for BL-6 cells and greater than 15% for HepG2 cells, suggesting higher transfection efficiency of PEI in 293 cells than the other two cell lines employed.



Figure 1. Effect of PEI Amount on Overall Level of Transgene Expression among Various Cell Lines.

Cells $(5x10^4/\text{well})$ were seeded in each well of a 48-well plate 24 hours prior to transfection with 1 µg of p2D6-luc plasmid mixed with various amounts of PEI. Twenty four hours later, transfection solution was replaced with fresh medium then luciferase activity in each well was determined 48 hours post transfection of 293 (•), BL-6 (\circ), or HepG2 cells (\Box). Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of three independent transfections.





Figure 2. Transfection Efficiency on HepG2 Cells.

HepG2 cells were seeded into a 12-well plate and transfected with 2 μ g of pCMV-GFP plasmid using 3.2 μ g/ μ g of PEI. Twenty four, 48, or 72 hours post transfection, GFP positive cells were directly observed under a fluorescence (F) microscope using 488 nm for excitation and 510-530 nm for emission and under the transmitted (B) light. Images were recorded simultaneously and then electronically overlaid (O). Images were a random shot of cells in a Petri dish with transfected cells.





Figure 3. Transfection Efficiency on BL-6 Cells.

BL-6 cells were seeded into a 12-well plate and transfected with 2 μ g of pCMV-GFP plasmid using 3.2 μ g/ μ g of PEI. Twenty four, 48, or 72 hours post transfection, GFP positive cells were directly observed under a fluorescence (F) microscope using 488 nm for excitation and 510-530 nm for emission and under the transmitted (B) light. Images were recorded simultaneously and then electronically overlaid (O). Images were a random shot of cells in a Petri dish with transfected cells.

Time (hour)



Figure 4. Transfection Efficiency on 293 Cells.

293 cells were seeded into a 12-well plate and transfected with 2 μ g of pCMV-GFP plasmid using 3.2 μ g/ μ g of PEI. Twenty four, 48, or 72 hours post transfection, GFP positive cells were directly observed under a fluorescence (F) microscope using 488 nm for excitation and 510-530 nm for emission and under the transmitted (B) light. Images were recorded simultaneously and then electronically overlaid (O). Images were a random shot of cells in a Petri dish with transfected cells.

3.2.2 Comparison of the Relative Strength of CYP Promoters

We compared the transcriptional strength of six CYP promoters in various cell lines using the optimal transfection conditions established in Figure 1. The human serum albumin (SA) gene promoter was used as a reference control. We first determined the relative promoter strength in HepG2 cells. Originating from human liver, HepG2 cells are one of the most commonly used models for studies of transcription regulation of CYP genes (172). Figure 5 shows that the level of luciferase activity seen in p2D6-luc transfected cells is the highest (5x10⁸ RLU per mg of protein) and is approximately 6 orders of magnitude higher than that of cells transfected with p2E1-luc and two orders higher than that of pSA-luc. The order of promoter strength observed was CYP2D6> CYP1A2> CYP2C9= CYP3A4> CYP2C18> CYP2E1. The strength of the human SA promoter is similar to that of the CYP1A2 promoter.

Enriched expression of CYP genes in the liver has been known for many years. The reason for the high level of CYP enzymes in the liver has been attributed to unique sequences called liver specific promoters (or tissue specific promoters in general). We decided to examine whether our CYP promoters are active in cells of non-hepatic origin by performing similar transfection experiments in 293 and BL-6 cells. Neither of these cell lines have an obvious similarity morphologically or functionally to HepG2 cells. As evidenced in Figures 6 and 7, all constructs containing CYP gene promoters are active in these non-hepatic cells. In fact, the amount of luciferase protein expressed in these cells is generally higher than that in HepG2 cells due to the fact that these cells are more transfectable under the experimental conditions.

Importantly, the relative promoter strength among the CYP gene promoters examined is very similar to that seen in HepG2 cells, indicating a versatile nature of these CYP promoters in driving gene expression in different cells.



Plasmid Construct

Figure 5. Activity of CYP Promoters in HepG2 Cells.

HepG2 cells were seeded on a 48-well plate ($5x10^4$ /well) 24 hours prior transfection with 1µg of the indicated CYP plasmid using 2.5 µg of PEI. Twenty four hours post-transfection, the transfection solution was replaced with fresh medium and luciferase activity evaluated 48 hours later. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of six independent transfections.



Figure 6. Activity of CYP Promoters in BL-6 Cells.

BL-6 cells were seeded on a 48-well plate ($5x10^4$ /well) 24 hours prior transfection with 1µg of the indicated CYP plasmid using 2.5 µg of PEI. Twenty four hours post-transfection, the transfection solution was replaced with fresh medium and luciferase activity evaluated 48 hours later. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of six independent transfections.



Figure 7. Activity of CYP Promoters in 293 Cells.

293 cells were seeded on a 48-well plate (5×10^4 /well) 24 hours prior transfection with 1µg of the indicated CYP plasmid using 2.5 µg of PEI. Twenty four hours post-transfection, the transfection solution was replaced with fresh medium and luciferase activity evaluated 48 hours later. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of six independent transfections.

We extended this *in vitro* study to whole animals and examined whether a similar order of promoter strength would be obtained in various normal cells under physiological conditions. Toward this end, we employed the hydrodynamics-based procedure previously developed in our laboratory (160). Hydrodynamic delivery uses the hydrodynamic pressure to disrupt the blood vessel endothelium and generate transient pores in the plasma membrane of parenchymal cells surrounding the vascular capillary (173). We have previously shown that in mice a high level of transgene expression in the liver, heart, lung, kidney and spleen can be achieved by a rapid tail vein injection of a large volume of DNA solution (160, 174). A mechanistic study on hydrodynamic delivery revealed that, with the highest level of transgene expression observed, the liver is the most sensitive organ for this technique (160). Figure 8 shows that there 30-40% of hepatocytes are transfected by a hydrodynamic injection of 10 μ g of pCMV-GFP plasmid DNA. The percentage of GFP positive cells decreases with time, indicating the transient nature of GFP expression in mouse liver.

Time (hour)



Figure 8. Transfection Efficiency on Mouse Hepatocytes.

Mouse hepatocytes were transfected with pCMV-GFP plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 μ g of DNA within 3-5 seconds. At the indicated time, animals were sacrificed, the liver dissected out, and immediately frozen on dry ice. Liver sections (10 μ m) were made in a Cryostat and immediately observed under a fluorescence microscope using 488 nm for excitation and 510-530 nm for emission.

The levels of luciferase expression by CYP constructs in transfected animals are shown in Figure 9. In all internal organs examined, the highest luciferase gene expression was seen in the liver and lower similar levels were seen in the heart, lung, kidney, and spleen. The approximately 3 orders of magnitude higher luciferase expression in the liver is largely due to the relative liver specificity of the hydrodynamic delivery. Importantly, the order of promoter strength for CYP constructs in the liver is very similar to the pattern seen *in vitro* experiments with p2D6-luc the strongest seen followed by p1A2-luc, p3A4-luc, p2C9-luc, p2C18-luc, and p2E1-luc. Compared to the CYP promoters, the human SA promoter exhibits relatively low activity in mice.



Plasmid Construct

Figure 9. Activity of CYP Promoters in Various Mouse Organs.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 μ g of the indicated plasmid within 3-5 seconds. Luciferase activity was determined 8 hours post transfection in the liver (the first bar), kidney (the second), spleen (the third), lung (the fourth), and heart (the fifth). Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3-5 independent transfections.



Figure 10. Relative Strength of CYP Promoters in Mouse Liver.

Luciferase activity of mouse livers transfected with various CYP plasmids were normalized by that of pSA-luc activity as one.

3.3 DISCUSSION

Efficient transfection resulting in a high level of reporter gene expression in both cell culture and mice has been demonstrated. PEI has been shown previously to be one of the most effective polymers in transferring plasmid DNA into cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* (175-177). The *in vitro* transfection results agree with those of previous studies in which the ratio of PEI and DNA at 1.2-3.5:1 was found to be optimal (154, 171). The excess of PEI in the DNA/PEI complexes enhances their binding to the negatively charged cell surface resulting in higher level of DNA internalization (154, 178). Transfection of mice using hydrodynamic delivery proved to be very effective with 30-40% of hepatocytes being transfected. This level of transfection efficiency in mice is similar to that of the previous study using the β-galactosidase gene as a reporter (160).

The major interest in pursuing these methods of highly efficient DNA transfer into various cells was to enable the direct comparison of the transcription activity of a variety of CYP promoters. This is important for those interested in drug metabolism, as it is essential to estimate the basal level of CYP gene expression. Toward this end, we have cloned into pGL3-Basic vectors the promoters of six CYP genes that are responsible for metabolism of over 90% of commonly prescribing drugs (34). The results we obtained from both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies suggest that the CYP2D6 promoter has the strongest promoting activity among those studied and is stronger than that of the human SA gene promoter. To provide a relative promoting value for each promoter, we have normalized the strength of each CYP gene promoter by

dividing the luciferase activity seen in mouse liver by that of pSA-luc transfected animals. Considering the human SA promoter strength as 1, the relative promoter strength is 269 for CYP2D6, 112 for CYP1A2, 86 for CYP3A4, 16 for CYP2C9, 2 for CYP2C18 and less than 1 for CYP2E1 (Figure 10).

The fact that promoter strength determines the basal level of CYP gene expression suggests that mutations in the promoter region can certainly affect the overall CYP protein level. Subsequently, sequence variation in the promoter region or promoter polymorphism could be one of the major causes for inter-individual variability in drug response. Compared to efforts in the study of polymorphisms of the coding regions of CYP genes, efforts in studying polymorphic nature of the regulatory sequences of CYP genes are lacking. Identification of single nucleotide polymorphisms in regulatory elements (promoters, enhancing sequences, insulators, suppressors and introns) that control CYP gene expression thus becomes an increasingly important consideration in pharmacogenomics.

The versatile nature of the CYP promoters driving gene expression in different cells has not been fully realized. Data presented in Figures 5-7 and 9 appear to suggest that CYP promoter activity is not limited to hepatocytes. In contrast to a common belief that tissue specific gene expression is controlled by the promoter sequence (the socalled tissue specific promoter) our data suggests that these sequences do not play a dominant role in determining tissue specific activity. For example, all of the promoters examined in this study, including the human SA promoter, have been considered to be liver specific, although some show relatively low activities in other organs such as the intestines, kidneys, and lungs. While these promoters exhibited good activity in driving reporter gene expression in hepatoma cell (HepG2), we observed similar activity in human embryonic kidney fibroblasts (293 cells), murine melanoma (BL-6 cells), and in mouse liver, heart, lung, kidney and spleen cells. These results indicate that all these cells possess transcription factors essential in recognizing promoter sequences and driving reporter gene expression. The liver specificity of the promoters could be due to upstream sequences not subcloned into the vector, or due to sequences in the introns or the 3'-flanking region of the genes.

Compared to promoter sequences in genomic DNA that may exist in a highly folded chromatin structure, the promoter in a plasmid is readily accessible for transcription due to the lack of a high degree of folding. Thus, the tissue or cell specific gene expression associated with genomic DNA but not with transfected cells is likely determined by promoter accessibility. Under this assumption, whether a gene will be expressed in a given tissue is determined by its location in the chromatin structure. Genes whose promoter sites are readily accessible are transcribed while those that are wrapped inside the chromatin structure will stay inactive.

It is important to point out that, although a promoter sequence is essential for transcription, transcription efficiency is largely controlled by transcription factors through various regulatory elements in DNA. For example, our attempt to correlate the promoter strength as shown in this study to protein level of various P450 enzymes in human liver did not result in a direct correlation. The lack of a direct correlation between the promoter strength of the CYP genes and their protein level could be due

to difference in CYP enzyme stability, stability of their mRNA, post transcriptional and/or translational modification, and the degree of transcription regulation. Obviously, details in mechanisms underlying gene expression regulation are yet to be fully investigated.

Although different levels of reporter gene expression are obtained with various CYP promoters, at present we do not know if the promoter sequence is acting alone to modulate transcription efficiency or if there are any cooperative/antagonistic interactions between the various transcription factors. In addition, it is possible that transcription factors involved in regulating transgene expression under different CYP promoters are also different in cell lines and in mice.

With respect to the CYP2D6 promoter that exhibited consistently high activity in this study, we speculate that there must be some unique sequence in this promoter region that would enhance RNA polymerase binding. Previous studies using deletion mutation analysis have identified an HNF-4 binding site at the -429/-80 region (80). Cairns *et al* (179) showed that the critical sequence of the 2D6 promoter is between – 392 and –18. To see if there is a co-relationship between the HNF element in the promoter region and promoter strength, we have performed a promoter analysis using MatInspector software (180) available at Genomatix web site (www.genomatix.de). In the sequences employed in this study, we identified 2 HNF sites in the 1A2 promoter, 17 in 2C9, 1 in 2C18, 7 in 2E1, and 1 in 3A4. Only 2 HNF sites are found in 2D6 promoter region. Obviously, the number of HNF binding sites in the promoter region does not determine the promoter strength since CYP 2C9 promoter with 17 HNF sites

did not exhibit better promoter activity than the 3A4 promoter that contains only one such site. Evidently, additional work is needed to gain a full understanding of the mechanisms through which transcription is regulated.

In summary, optimized procedures for *in vitro* and *in vivo* transfection were employed to evaluate the relative strength of promoters for 6 CYP genes that are responsible for metabolism of over 90% of prescription drugs. We demonstrated that, among the 6 CYP promoters examined, the CYP2D6 promoter exhibits the strongest activity followed by the 1A2, 3A4, 2C9, 2C18 and 2E1 promoters. All of these promoters were found to be active in driving reporter gene expression in established cell lines (HepG2, 293, BL-6) as well as in cells in mouse liver, heart, lung, kidneys and spleen. Our findings indicate that the *in vitro* and *in vivo* systems explored here are useful tools for studying transcription regulation of various CYP genes.

EVALUATION OF THE ACTIVITIES OF CYTOCHROME P450 PROMOTERS IN SUSTAINING TRANSGENE EXPRESSION *IN VIVO*

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes are mainly expressed in the liver, where most of drug metabolism processes takes place. It is well known that hepatic levels of CYP enzymes are subjected to regulation by many factors mostly at the transcription level. The activity of CYP promoters have been the subject of many studies, however, most of those studies aimed to investigate the role of CYP promoter sequences in xenobiotic mediated induction using *in vitro* systems.

In the previous study, we evaluated the relative strength of many human CYP promoters under optimized conditions *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In a continuation of that study, we aimed here to *in vivo* investigate the activities of many CYP promoters in sustaining levels of gene expression under the physiological conditions. Here, we have also tested the activities of many other non-CYP promoters to compare CYP promoter activities to them. Fifteen promoters were examined and categorized into four groups. The hepatic group included human CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C18, CYP2D6, CYP3A4, AAT (alpha 1-antitrypsin), SA (serum albumin), and mouse cyp2b10 promoters. The viral promoters group included CMV (cytomegalovirus), CMV-EBV (EBNA1/OriP sequence of the Epstein-Barr virus under the CMV

promoter), and RSV (Rous sarcoma virus) promoters. The non-hepatic promoters included human APP (amyloid precursor protein) and chicken beta actin gene promoters (ACT). Promoters known to be sensitive to stress stimulation including NFkB (nuclear factor kappa B) and HS (heat shock protein 70) promoters were also included. All promoters were constructed in expression vectors containing the luciferase gene as a reporter.

The activity of each promoter in sustaining luciferase gene expression was assessed in mouse livers utilizing the hydrodynamic procedure. These comparative studies demonstrated that among the tested CYP promoters, the CYP2D6 showed the highest activity in sustaining transgene expression, and its activity was comparable to that of known strong promoters.

4.2 RESULTS

4.2.1 Activity of CYP Promoters in Sustaining Transgene Expression

To examine the activities of the various promoters in maintaining levels of luciferase gene expression, 10 μ g of each plasmid construct was transfected into mouse hepatocytes using the hydrodynamic procedure. We found that eight hours post transfection, among the tested CYP promoters, the CYP2D6 showed the highest activity in driving luciferase gene expression whereas the CYP2C18 was the lowest (Figure 11). The superiority of CYP2D6 promoter activity over the rest of CYP

promoters was also confirmed by using the hAAT reporter gene, where we found that among the tested CYP promoters (CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2D6, and CYP3A4), the CYP2D6 promoter showed highest activity (Figure 12). At this time point, the viral promoter pCMV-luc and the hepatic promoter pAAT-luc exhibited the highest levels of gene expression compared to all promoters whereas the hepatic promoter pSA-luc exhibited the lowest (Figures 11 and 13). According to the overall order of activity, some CYP promoters can be categorized as strong promoters in driving luciferase gene expression, with the CYP2D6 promoter being two orders of magnitude less active than the strong viral CMV promoter. Activities of the tested promoters were evaluated for period of 2 weeks. By the end of the second week, the activities of CYP promoters had declined significantly but at detectable levels. The same pattern of decline was observed with the non-CYP promoters (Figure 14). The p2D6-luc was able to sustain a high level of luciferase and hAAT gene expression for 3-4 and 7 days, respectively. The viral pCMV-EBV-luc was the most active promoter as it sustained transgene expression at a high level for more than a week. By the end of the second week, the pAAT-luc exhibited the highest activity among the rest of all the tested promoters whereas the stress sensitive promoters (pNFkB-luc and pHS-luc) exhibited sharp declines in their activities a few days post transfection (Figure 15).



Figure 11. Activity of the Hepatic Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene Expression.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 µg of pAAT-luc (\blacklozenge), p2D6-luc (\diamondsuit), p3A4-luc (\blacksquare), p2C18-luc (\square), p2C9-luc (\circ), p2b10-luc (\blacklozenge), pSA-luc (\triangle), or p1A2-luc (\blacktriangle) plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. At the indicated time post transfection, luciferase activities were determined in the liver. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Figure 12. Activity of the CYP Promoters in Sustaining hAAT Gene Expression.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 μ g of p2D6-hAAT (•), p2C9-hAAT (•), p3A4-hAAT (•), or p1A2-hAAT (□) plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Blood samples were collected at the indicated time post transfection, and serum concentration of hAAT was determined. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Figure 13. Activity of the Viral Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene Expression.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 μ g of pCMV-EBV-luc (**•**), pCMV-luc (**•**), or pRSV-luc (**•**) plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Luciferase activities were determined in the liver at the indicated time post transfection. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Figure 14. Activities of the Non-hepatic Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene Expression.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 μ g of pAPP-luc (**■**) or pACT-luc (**▲**) plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Luciferase activities were determined in the liver at the indicated time post transfection. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Figure 15. Activities of the Stress-Responsive Promoters in Sustaining Luciferase Gene Expression.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 10 μ g of pHS-luc (\blacksquare) or pNFkB-luc (\blacktriangle) plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Luciferase activities were determined in the liver at the indicated time post transfection. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections.

4.2.2 Persistence of Plasmid DNA in Mouse Liver

The activity pattern of rapid initial decline followed by a slow decay to a lower level was shared by all tested promoters. This pattern might be explained by rapid loss of the plasmid DNA in the transfected liver cells. To examine that, plasmid constructs of pCMV-EBV-luc, pRSV-luc, pACT-luc, p2D6-luc, p3A4-luc, and p2C9-luc were injected to the animals and the levels of their plasmid DNA as function of time were evaluated using Southern blot analysis. We found that regardless the origin of the injected promoter construct, all plasmids stayed in mouse liver in the episomal form for more than 2 weeks. However, some plasmids (pRSV-luc, p2D6-luc, p3A4-luc, and p2C9-luc) were characterized by loss of some of their initial DNA between the first and the third days (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Southern Blot Analysis of Plasmid DNA in Transfected Mouse Liver.

Total DNA from the liver was prepared and analyzed from each mouse at the indicated time points (1, 3, 5, 7, or 14 days) post transfection and after injection of 10 μ g of (starting from the top) pCMV-EBV-luc, pACT-luc, p2D6-luc, p3A4-luc, p2C9-luc, or pRSV-luc plasmid DNA. Each band represents the average of 3 liver samples from independent transfections.

4.2.3 Analysis of Transgene mRNA Levels of Plasmid Constructs in Mouse Liver

To evaluate the transgene mRNA levels in transfected mouse livers this study was done. Plasmids were injected to animals and at the indicated time points, livers obtained, and transgene mRNA analyzed. We found that the mRNA level of the reporter gene fell below the detection level one day post transfection for all of plasmid constructs with exception of the plasmid containing EBV viral sequences which maintained a high detectable level of mRNA for more than a week. The levels of mRNA for some plasmid constructs (pRSV-luc, pSA-luc, p3A4-luc, p2D6-luc, p2C18-luc, p2C9-luc, and p1A2-luc) were analyzed in earlier time point, and found that eight p2D6-luc, p3A4-luc, and pRSV-luc mRNA levels could be detected (Figure 17).


Figure 17. Transgene mRNA Analysis in Mouse Liver.

(**Upper**) Animals were injected with 10 μ g of (starting from the top) pCMV-EBV-luc, pACT-luc, p2D6-luc, or p3A4-luc; at the indicated time (1, 3, 5, 7, or 14 days) the livers were obtained and the total RNA extracted and subjected to Northern blot analysis. The lane 1 (C) represents the positive control (mouse injected with 20 μ g of pCMV-luc and analyzed eight hours post transfection) and each band represents the average of three liver samples from independent transfections. (**Lower**) Animals were injected with 10 μ g of (starting from the left) pRSV-luc, pSA-luc, p3A4-luc, p2D6-luc, p2C18-luc, p2C9-luc, or p1A2-luc plasmid DNA, and eight hours post transfection liver samples were collected and subjected to Northern blot analysis. Each band represents the average of three liver samples from independent transfections.

4.3 DISCUSSION

The promoter region of any gene is known to play the major role in initiation of the transcription process due to its content of essential elements required by RNA polymerase, nuclear receptors, and transcriptional factors. In the current study, we aimed to investigate the role of CYP promoters in controlling gene expression. We used a reporter assay to achieve this goal by inserting of different CYP 5'-FRs into expression vectors containing luciferase or hAAT as reporter genes.

The study was carried out *in vivo* under the physiological conditions. Promoters of human CYP1A2, CYP2C9, CYP2C18, CYP2D6, and CYP3A4 as well as mouse cyp2b10 were included this study. The common pattern of all tested promoters was high initial gene expression eight hours post transfection followed by rapid decline and slow decay to a lower level. Unlike the others, the CYP2D6 promoter exhibited a different pattern by maintaining luciferase gene expression sustained at a high level for up to 3 days and hAAT gene expression for 7 days. This promoter was the most active among the tested CYP promoters (Figures 11 and 12).

The activities of CYP promoters versus other hepatic promoters, pAAT-luc and pSAluc were also compared. Human alpha 1-antitrypsin and albumin are two of the abundant proteins in the serum that synthesized mainly in hepatocytes and their synthesis is regulated at the transcriptional level (181, 182). The human alpha 1antitrypsin promoter showed higher activity than the CYP promoters and was one of the most active promoters tested in the entire study. It was more active than the CYP2D6 promoter whereas the albumin promoter showed lower activity than all of the tested CYP promoters (Figure 11).

We also compared the activity of the hepatic promoters to that of the CMV and RSV viral promoters which are known for their ubiquitously potent activity. The CMV promoter, one of the strongest viral promoters (183), was more active than the CYP2D6 promoter and to a lesser extent than the alpha 1-antitrypsin promoter (Figure 13). In our hands, the RSV promoter was less active than the CMV promoter which was consistent with the findings of Xu *et al* (184). Moreover, activities of CMV, alpha 1-antitrypsin, and serum albumin promoters were consistent with those reported by Kramer *et al* (185). However, the activities of non-hepatic promoters including the promoter of human amyloid precursor protein, mainly expressed in brain and neurons, and the stress-stimulated promoters were lower than many of the tested CYP promoters (Figures 14 and 15).

The kinetics of transgene expression for the tested promoters was similar to that of CYP promoters with a rapid initial decline followed by a slow decay even though plasmid DNA was persistent in the animal liver as shown in Figure 16. This pattern has been considered previously to be a common phenomenon in different organs such as the liver, lungs, or muscles (186-188). However, the plasmid of pCMV-EBV-luc was the exception. This plasmid contains the EBNA1 gene sequence and the oriP elements of the Epstein-Barr virus. These elements are required for the viral properties of retention, replication, nuclear localization, binding to the nuclear matrix of the target cell, and transcriptional up-regulation (189). Figure 17 shows that

pCMV-EBV-luc was the only plasmid kept a high detectable level of mRNA for more than a week, whereas for all the other plasmid constructs mRNA level fell below the detection limit as early as one day post transfection.

Data from mRNA analysis and the observation that pCMV-EBV-luc activity started to significantly decline by the end of the first week, the period at which mRNA was detected, suggest that the major cause of the decline in the activity of the promoters was transcriptional shutdown. For some of the tested promoters, the initial decline could also be partially attributed to the initial loss in the amount of plasmid DNA in mouse liver.

Silencing of the injected plasmid could be due to lack of integration into the chromosomal DNA of the target cell. Integration is the major mechanism by which many viral vectors provide stability and persistence in transgene expression. Despondently, viral vector integration is random and might generate insertional mutation. However, transgene integration is not the only mechanism by which gene silencing can be overcome since many viral vectors are non-integrated but remain extrachromosomal and still provide prolonged transgene expression. Unfortunately, a strong immune response in the host is still the main obstruction that stands in the way of using viral vectors. In recent years, more attention has been paid to establishing non-viral vectors that provide the adequate and prolonged transgene expression required not only for gene therapy but for the study of gene function as well. Different studies have suggested that inclusion of genomic sequences like gene promoters, enhancers, introns, 3'-flanking regions, or binding sites for some transcriptional

factors, dramatically improve the persistence of transgene expression (190, 191). It has been also proposed that the inclusion of certain elements like the ApoE gene hepatic locus control region (HCR), cellular elongation factor 1 α (EF1 α), or ubiquitin C (UbC) prolong transgene expression (187, 190). Moreover, recent studies have suggested that modification in the expression vector by linearization or exclusion of CpG sequences, or the bacterial backbone, significantly reduce gene silencing (186, 192).

Our results suggest that the promoter region does not exhibit tissue or species specificity. Promoters from different species were able to drive transgene expression in mouse liver. These results also suggest that the persistence of transgene expression in the liver is controlled by non-promoter elements. We also can not rule out the possibility that in our expression vectors we missed subcloning of critical promoter or enhancer sequences that might be required for prolonged transgene expression , since it has been reported that distal enhancer elements are crucial for optimizing transgene expression (193). Furthermore, based on our observations that plasmid constructs containing NFkB or HS promoters exhibited the most transient gene expression, we are suggesting that transgene expression is regulated by components involved in stress-related pathways.

With respect to the activities of CYP promoters in sustaining transgene expression, the CYP2D6 promoter kept luciferase expression at a high level for 3 days. The CYP2C9 promoter also was active and sustained a good level of luciferase for more than 2 weeks. The CYP2C9 promoter started with relatively low activity, but the interesting feature of this promoter is that it kept its activity stable for prolonged period of time. Whereas many of the tested promoters by the end of the first week lost almost 4-5 order of magnitude of their initial activity, the CYP2C9 only dropped less than 2 orders. In general, we found that the CYP2D6 promoter followed by the CYP2C9 promoter is the most active CYP promoter in sustaining transgene expression. This findings might explain the stability of CYP2D6 and CYP2C9 proteins as suggested by Renwick *et al* and others (194, 195).

We speculated that the CYP2D6 promoter contains elements that enhance the binding of RNA polymerase or transcriptional factors, or lack elements required for downregulation. To test this hypothesis, we have performed promoter sequence analysis to detect any potential elements using MalInspector software (180). We found that the CYP2D6 promoter contains 2 binding sites for the hepatic nuclear factor 4 (HNF4) and 3 binding sites for the CCAAT/enhancer binding protein (C/EBP) which are known for their up-regulatory role in CYP expression. Compared to the CYP2D6, the CYP2C9 was found to contain 3 sites for the HNF4 and 4 for the C/EBP. We also found that only the CYP2C9 promoter includes 2 potential binding sites for NFkB, known for its down-regulatory role in CYP expression (196), whereas CYP2D6 does not, indicating that repressor elements can dominate CYP promoter activities. Additional work is needed for a complete understanding of the mechanisms through which transcription is regulated.

In summary, we have investigated many CYP promoter sequences for their activities in sustaining the level of transgene expression in mouse liver. We demonstrated that CYP2D6 was the most active CYP promoter, and its activity was compared relative to many other established promoters.

IN VIVO ACTIVATION OF HUMAN CYP2C9 PROMOTER IN MOUSE LIVER AND THE ESSENTIAL ROLE OF CAR AND PXR

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The human CYP2C subfamily consists of four members, CYP2C8, CYP2C9, CYP2C18, and CYP2C19, whose genes are located in chromosome 10 (45, 197, 198). CYP2C enzymes are predominantly expressed in the liver (199-201), where they account for about 18% of total adult liver CYP content (33) and among them CYP2C9 is the principal element (199). They are also expressed to a lesser extent in duodenum and the kidneys (72). While the enzymes of the CYP2C subfamily account for the metabolism of about 20% of clinically important drugs (202), about 16% out of that are mediated by CYP2C9 alone (203).

Drugs with narrow therapeutic index including the hypoglycemic tolbutamide (204), the anticonvulsant phenytoin (205), and the anticoagulant *S*-warfarin (47) are mainly metabolized by CYP2C9. Therefore, a minor change in CYP2C9 metabolic activity can have a great impact on the pharmacological activity as well as the toxicity of many clinically used drugs. The level of CYP2C9 enzyme is reported to be transcriptionally induced by many chemicals such as dexamethasone, phenobarbital, and rifampicin (105).

The previous studies that investigated the function of the 5'-FR of CYP2C9 were carried out using *in vitro* systems, either in cell lines or in primary cultures of human hepatocytes. Those *in vitro* studies showed some contradictory results regarding CYP2C9 regulation. For example, using human hepatocytes, Runge *et al* proposed that rifampicin and phenobarbital have no inductive role in the expression of CYP2C9 while Raucy *et al* reported that rifampicin and phenobarbital are potent CYP2C9 induction has been debated (207).

In our previous studies, we established an *in vivo* animal model using the hydrodynamic gene delivery procedure by which we were able to evaluate the activity of many CYP 5'-FRs. Among the tested CYP promoter, the CYP2C9 promoter showed significant activity. In the current study, we aimed to investigate the validity of the previously established animal model in studying gene induction and regulation using CYP2C9 as a model. Here, we studied the function of the elements of the CYP2C9 5'-FR in regulating both the basal and the induced gene expression.

For this purpose, various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 were cloned into luciferase containing expression vectors and assessed for their activities in mouse liver. Their activities were also evaluated in presence or absence of CYP-inducers or CYP-activator nuclear receptors. The experiments were also carried out into HepG2 cells to provide an *in vivo* vs. *in vitro* comparison. Our results suggest that PXR and CAR are essential in CYP2C9 induction, and that the elements of 5'-FR residing between -1000 bp and -

2000 bp, upstream of the coding sequence, are crucial for controlling basal gene expression as well as PXR/CAR mediated activation.

5.2 RESULTS

5.2.1 Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver and in HepG2

To systematically evaluate the function of various segments of 5'-FSs of CYP2C9, we cloned various deletion constructs with part or full 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 beyond the promoter region deletion. Twenty micrograms of plasmids of p2C9-0.2K-luc, p2C9-1K-luc, p2C9-2K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-5K-luc, or p2C9-10K-luc were transfected into mouse livers by the hydrodynamic procedure and twenty four hours later luciferase activities in these livers were determined. The *in vitro* study was carried out by transfection of 1 μ g of each of the deletion constructs into HepG2 cells using PEI and luciferase activities were determined forty eight hours post transfection.

We found that all CYP2C9 5'-FSs were functional in driving luciferase gene expression. In mouse liver, the difference in activity between constructs was not significant with the exception of the p2C9-10K-luc which was significantly lower (Figure 18). In HepG2 cells, the activities were similar to what have been seen in liver but with more significant differences (Figure 19). The construct of p2C9-1K-luc led the order and the p2C9-2K-luc exhibited much lower activity compared to the *in vivo*

results. These data suggest that the p2C9-2K-luc includes some transcription elements which were responsive to transcriptional up-regulating factor/s provided by the *in vitro* system. They also suggest that the activity of the p2C9-10K-luc was under control of repressor sequences.

The activity of p2C9-10K-luc, the larger construct, in mouse liver was significantly low compared to the other constructs. Such low activity could be attributed to construct size, since transfection of larger plasmid is more difficult than smaller one and therefore a lower amount of plasmid DNA will be available for gene expression. To examine if the lower amount of the p2C9-10K-luc was the reason for its low activity, we transfected plasmid constructs of different size (p2C9-1K-luc, p2C9-5Kluc, and p2C9-10K-luc) and in different amounts into animal livers. The injected plasmid DNA doses were adjusted based on the size of plasmid, i.e. an identical molar amount of plasmid DNA was injected to each mouse. For example when we injected one group of animals with 100 μ g of p2C9-10K-luc, the molar equivalent to p2C9-5K-luc was 68.2 μ g, and 39.2 μ g for p2C9-1K-luc. As shown in Figure 20, the activity of p2C9-10K-luc tended to be low compared to other constructs at equal molar amount.



Plasmid Construct

Figure 18. Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver.

Mice were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 20 μ g of CYP2C9 plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Twenty four hours post transfection, luciferase activities in liver were determined. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Plasmid Construct

Figure 19. Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in HepG2 Cells.

HepG2 cells were seeded on a 48-well plate, $5x10^4$ cells/well, prior to transfection with 1 µg of plasmid DNA using 3.2 µg of PEI. Twenty four hours post transfection, the transfection solution was replaced with fresh medium and luciferase activities were determined 24 hours later. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Dose (pM/mouse)

Figure 20. Effect of Plasmid Amount and Size on Promoter Activity in Mouse Liver.

Mice were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing various doses of p2C9-10K-luc (•) (100, 20, or 10 µg), p2C9-5K-luc (•) (68.4, 20, or 6.8 µg), or p2C9-1K-luc (•) (43, 20, or 4.3 µg). Twenty four hours post transfection, luciferase activities in liver were determined. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.

5.2.2 Activation of CYP2C9 5'-Flanking Region by CYP Inducers and the Major Role of PXR and CAR

Previous studies have shown that many transcriptional factors and nuclear receptors, including CAR, PXR, PPAR, HNF4 α , and many others, are tightly involved in CYP induction (208). Here we tested the effect of some of these on the activity of 5'-FR of CYP2C9. Such studies would enhance our understanding of the molecular mechanisms underlying CYP induction.

To examine whether PXR or CAR can enhance the promoter activity of CYP2C9 in mouse liver, mice were co-injected via tail vein with p2C9-5K-luc and pCMX-SXR, the expression vector of PXR, or pCMX-CAR, the expression vector of CAR. Two hours later, the animals were injected with a single dose of rifampicin (a strong activator of human PXR, 200 mg/kg), PCN (strong activator of rodent PXR, 200 mg/kg), phenobarbital (CAR activator, 200 mg/kg), or TCPOBOP (strong activator of mouse CAR, 10 mg/kg) dissolved in DMSO (100 μ l). Twenty four hours post transfection, liver luciferase activities were determined. For the *in vitro* studies, HepG2 cells were co-transfected with 500 ng of p2C9-5K-luc and 100 ng of pCMX-SXR or pCMX-CAR using PEI. Twenty four hours post transfection, cells were treated with rifampicin or TCPOBOP. Luciferase activities were then determined 48 hours post transfection.

We found that PXR itself enhanced the activity of the p2C9-5K-luc in mouse liver by 2 to 3fold. When an animal was challenged with rifampicin or PCN, PXR enhanced the activity of the CYP2C9 5'-FR by 71 or 22fold, respectively (Figure 21). In HepG2

cells, we found that PXR activation of the p2C9-5K-luc was totally dependent on rifampicin treatment in dose dependent manner (Figure 22). When the expression vector of the activated PXR (pCMX-VPSXR) was used, PXR by itself was able to enhance p2C9-5K-luc activity by 16 fold (Figure 27).

With regard to CAR, we found that CAR enhanced the activity of the p2C9-5K-luc in mouse liver by 2fold, whereas when the animals were challenged with phenobarbital or TCPOBOP, CAR significantly enhanced the CYP2C9 5'-FR activity by 10 or 57fold, respectively (Figure 23). In HepG2, CAR enhanced the activity of the p2C9-5K-luc by 7 fold only when TCPOBOP was added to the culturing medium. Similar to PXR, CAR activation of the p2C9-5K-luc was totally dependent on xenobiotic activation with dose dependent manner (Figure 24). When the expression vector of the activated CAR (pCMX-VPCAR) was used, CAR itself induced the activity of the p2C9-5K-luc by 31 fold (Figure 29).

Roles of PPAR and HNF4 α were also investigated (data not shown). We found that co-transfection of PPAR α , γ , or δ did not affect the activity of the p2C9-5K-luc in mouse liver. Likewise, co-transfection of HNF4 α with various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 did not significantly enhance their activities in HepG2 cells. These data indicated the crucial role of PXR and CAR in CYP2C9 induction.



Figure 21. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in Mouse Liver.

Mice were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 2 μ g of p2C9-5K-luc and 5 μ g of pCMX-SXR within 3-5 seconds. Two hours post transfection, the animals whose co-transfected with pCMX-SXR, if needed, were treated with PCN (200 mg/kg) or rifampicin (RIF, 200 mg/kg) dissolved in 100 μ l of DMSO. Twenty four hours post transfection, luciferase activities in the livers were determined. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Rifampicin Concentration (µM)

Figure 22. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'FR in HepG2 Cells.

HepG2 cells ($5x10^4$ /well) were co-transfected with 500 ng of p2C9-5K-luc and 100 ng of pCMX-SXR using 3.2 µg/µg of PEI. Twenty four hours post transfection, transfection solution was replaced with a fresh medium containing various doses of rifampicin (0, 5, 10, 25, 50, or 100 µM). Luciferase activities in each well were then evaluated 48 hours post transfection. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



Figure 23. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'FR in Mouse Liver.

Mice were co-transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 2 μ g of p2C9-5K-luc and 5 μ g of pCMX-CAR within 3-5 seconds. Two hours later, the animals whose co-transfected with pCMX-CAR, if needed, were injected with phenobarbital (PHB, 200 mg/kg) or TCPOBOP (BOP, 10 mg/kg) dissolved in 100 μ l of DMSO. Twenty four hours post transfection, luciferase activities in the livers were determined. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.



TCPOBOP Concentration (µM)

Figure 24. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in HepG2 Cells

HepG2 cells ($5x10^4$ /well) were co-transfected with 500 ng of p2C9-5K-luc and 100 ng of pCMX-CAR using 3.2 µg/µg of PEI. Twenty four hours later, transfection solution was replaced with a fresh medium containing different doses of TCPOBOP (0, 0.1, 0.2, 0.4, or 1.6 µM). Luciferase activities in each well were then evaluated 48 hours post transfection. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections.

5.2.3 Activity of CYP2C9 5'-Flanking Region in Sustaining the Transgene Expression

We previously studied the activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in sustaining transgene expression (chapter 4). In the current study, we investigated the effect of CAR/PXR co-transfection as well as new distal elements of 5'-FS on the sustaining activity of CYP2C9 5'FR. Two groups of animals were co-transfected with 2 μ g of p2C9-5K-luc and with either 2 μ g of pCMX-PXR or pCMX-CAR. Two hours later, animals were treated with rifampicin (200 mg/kg) or TCPOBOP (10 mg/kg) and 22 hours later liver luciferase activities were determined.

We found that PXR, upon activation by rifampicin was able to enhance CYP2C9 promoter activity to the maximal peak level 24 hours post transfection, followed by a fast decline to a lower level. The same pattern was seen with CAR and TCPOBOP (Figure 25). In spite of the sharp decline in promoter activity, we found that CYP2C9 5'-FR remained functional, since a second dose of rifampicin (200 mg/kg) at day 3 enhanced the activity of CYP2C9 promoter by 6fold within 24 hours and a second dose of TCPOBOP (10 mg/kg) at day 4 enhanced the activity by about 2fold. These data suggest that CAR or PXR activation and the new included distal elements of CYP2C9 5'-FR did not improve its activity in sustaining transgene levels. They also clearly indicated that even when CYP2C9 5'-FR exhibited low activity in mouse liver, it is still functional.



Figure 25. Activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in Sustaining Transgene Expression in Mouse Liver.

Tow groups of animals were co-transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 ml saline containing 2 μ g of p2C9-5K-luc and 2 μ g of pCMX-SXR (the first group, •) or pCMX-CAR (the second group, •) plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Two hours later, animals were injected with 100 μ l of DMSO containing rifampicin (200 mg/kg) (the first group) or TCPOBOP (10 mg/kg) (the second group). At the indicated time post transfection, luciferase activities in the livers were determined. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections. Arrows indicate the time of drug injection.

5.2.4 Identification of the Functional Elements in 5'-Flanking Region of CYP2C9 Required for PXR/CAR-Mediated Induction

In the previous studies we found that PXR and CAR are two essential nuclear receptors that mediate CYP2C9 induction. From our understanding of CAR and PXR activation mechanisms, these nuclear receptors exert their action in gene regulation by binding to certain elements in the 5'-FR of the target gene (99). In this study, we aimed to identify where PXR or CAR essential elements are located in CYP2C9 5'-FR. For this purpose, we co-transfected the animals with various CYP2C9 deletion constructs containing different sequences of CYP2C9 5'-FSs with or without PXR or CAR expression vectors. For the *in vitro* studies, HepG2 cells were co-transfected with various deletion constructs of CYP2C9 5'-FSs in presence or absence of pCMX-VPSXR or pCMX-VPCAR using PEI.

We found that PXR, when activated by rifampicin, enhanced the p2C9-5K-luc by 71fold. It also enhanced the p2C9-3K-luc by 18fold and the p2C9-2K-luc by 39fold. Such significant activation was abolished when the p2C9-1K-luc was used (Figure 26). In HepG2, the same pattern of activity was seen, PXR enhanced the p2C9-5K-luc by 16fold, p2C9-3K-luc by 3fold, and p2C9-2K-luc by 57fold whereas had no effect on the p2C9-1K-luc (Figure 27).

We also found that CAR, when activated by TCPOBOP, enhanced the p2C9-5K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, and p2C9-2K-luc by 57, 23, and 52fold, respectively. Dissimilarly, such significant induction disappeared when the p2C9-1K-luc was used (Figure 28). In HepG2, the same pattern of activity was seen, CAR enhanced the activities of

p2C9-5K-luc by 31fold, p2C9-3K-luc by 3fold, and p2C9-2K-luc by 52fold but not the p2C9-1K-luc (Figure 29). These data indicate that the p2C9-2K-luc contains the minimal elements required for CAR/PXR activation.



Figure 26. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of Various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 saline containing 2 μ g of various deletion constructs of CYP2C9 with (second bar in each pair) or without (first bar in each pair) 2 μ g of pCMX-SXR plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Two hours later, animals were injected with 100 μ l of free DMSO (first bar in each pair) or with DMSO containing rifampicin (200 mg/kg) (second bar in each pair). Twenty four hours post transfection, luciferase activities in the liver were determined. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections. 5K, 3K, 2K, and 1K represent p2C9-5K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-2K-luc, and p2C9-1K-luc, respectively.



Figure 27. Effect of PXR Expression on the Activity of Various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 in HepG2 Cells.

HepG2 cells ($5x10^4$ /well) were co-transfected with 500 ng of various deletion constructs of CYP2C9 with (second bar in each pair) or without (first bar in each pair) 100 ng of pCMX-VPSXR using 3.2 µg/µg of PEI. Forty eight hours post transfection, luciferase activities in each well were determined. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections. 5K, 3K, 2K, and 1K represent p2C9-5K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-2K-luc, and p2C9-1K-luc, respectively.



Figure 28. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activity of Various 5'-Flanking Sequences of CYP2C9 in Mouse Liver.

Animals were transfected with plasmid DNA via tail vein injection of 1.8 saline containing 2 μ g of various deletion constructs of CYP2C9 with (second bar in each pair) or without (first bar in each pair) 2 μ g of pCMX-CAR plasmid DNA within 3-5 seconds. Two hours later, animals were treated with 100 μ l of free DMSO (first bar in each pair) or DMSO containing TCPOBOP (10 mg/kg) (second bar in each pair). Twenty four hours post transfection, luciferase activities in the livers were determined. Values represent the mean ± S.E. of 3 independent transfections. 5K, 3K, 2K, and 1K represent p2C9-5K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-2K-luc, and p2C9-1K-luc, respectively.



Figure 29. Effect of CAR Expression on the Activities of Various 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 in HepG2 Cells.

HepG2 cells $(5x10^4/\text{well})$ were co-transfected with 500 ng of various deletion constructs of CYP2C9 with (second bar in each pair) or without (first bar in each pair) 100 ng of pCMX-VPCAR using 3.2 µg/µg of PEI. Forty eight hours post transfection, luciferase activities in each well were determined. Values represent the mean \pm S.E. of 3 independent transfections. 5K, 3K, 2K, and 1K represent p2C9-5K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, p2C9-2K-luc, and p2C9-1K-luc, respectively.

5.3 DISCUSSION

In the current study we have evaluated the activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR in driving transgene expression *in vivo* and *in vitro*. We also investigated the role of different nuclear receptors and transcriptional factors in regulation of CYP2C9 5'-FR activity and identified the elements of 5'-FR that are required for CYP2C9 gene expression and induction.

Figure 18 shows that all 5'-FSs of CYP2C9 tested were active in driving transgene expression in mouse liver. One of the significant findings in this regard was clear difference between the in vivo and in vitro activities of the p2C9-2K-luc as seen in Figure 19. This difference can be explained by the presence of some transcription factors in the *in vivo* system that were lost in the *in vitro*. It also can be illustrated by that the p2C9-2K-luc includes binding sites for certain transcription factors that were missed in the other CYP2C9 constructs. Alternatively, the p2C9-2K-luc might also lacks some repressing elements that are included in the other CYP2C9 constructs. From promoter sequence analysis using MalInspector software, we found that the p2C9-2K-luc contains 2 and 4 potential binding sites for HNF4 and C/EBP, these sites were missing in the p2C9-1K-luc. Here we propose that C/EBP is responsible for the in vivo enhanced activity of the p2C9-2K-luc, since co-transfection of the expression vector of the HNF4α did not affect the basal activity of the p2C9-2K-luc in HepG2 cells (data not shown), Although a HNF4 α functional binding site at -155 bp has been reported (209). The previous findings that the C/EBP was able to up-regulate the basal expression of CYP2C9 in cell lines, support such a proposal (144).

Furthermore, a study by Gerbal-Chaloin *et al*, using human hepatocytes, proposed the element at -1839 bp in the CYP2C9 5'-FR as CAR responsive element and the element at -1675 bp as the glucocorticoid receptor-responsive element (114). However unlikely, Chen *et al*, using HepG2 cells, proposed that the element at -1839 bp is primary PXR responsive element (207). Using human hepatocytes, the same element was proposed as vitamin D receptor (VDR) responsive (134). Both elements are included in the p2C9-2K-luc suggesting that GR, CAR, PXR, or VDR were likely mediated its *in vivo* enhanced activity.

Although VDR was suggested to control the basal expression of CYP2 and CYP3 families in absence of xenobiotics, CYP2C9 has not been shown to be involved in metabolism of vitamin D (134). On the other hand, CYP2C9 was described as the primary glucocorticoid receptor-responsive gene and its expression under physiological conditions is maintained at a substantial level through GR direct activation (114). Moreover, GR is known for its constitutive expression and to which stability of CYP2C9 expression was attributed (105, 117, 210). This receptor some how is involved in induction of many nuclear receptors like PXR, CAR, and VDR (211). This inductive role was recently explained for CAR as involving direct CAR activation through GR-responsive element identified in 5'-FR of CAR gene (212).

The p2C9-10K-luc construct showed a similar pattern of significant low activities in mouse liver and in HepG2. We attributed such weakness to its content of effective repressor sequences. This pattern of low activity with regard to large CYP 5'-FR

construct compared to smaller deletion constructs was also reported by Schuetz *et al* for CYP3A4 (213). Figure 20 shows that the difference in plasmid size and DNA amount were not the reasons for the activity of the p2C9-10K-luc, specially when a much larger construct (about 157 kb) was successfully transfected to mouse liver under the same conditions (214).

A few previous studies, using *in vitro* systems, identified nuclear receptors, including PXR and CAR, as essential factors for CYP2C9 induction (28). These receptors were found to work by directly binding to their responsive elements in CYP2C9 5'-FR. So far, two regulatory elements in the 5'-FR of CYP2C9 have been identified for CAR and PXR. These are the proximal CAR-responsive element (-1839 bp) (114), and the distal CAR-responsive element (-2899 bp) (215). These elements were proposed to be mainly CAR elements.

Under the physiological conditions and by employing a longer segment of CYP2C9 5'-FR, we found that PXR significantly enhanced the activity CYP2C9 primarily post xenobiotic activation. Rifampicin, known for its *in vivo* and *in vitro* induction of CYP2C9 (105, 216), was found to be the most potent inducer for CYP2C9 via PXR activation (Figure 21). In mouse liver, when animals were treated with rifampicin in absence of PXR co-transfection, the activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR did not significantly enhance (data not shown), indicating the crucial role of PXR in the activity of CYP2C9. It also indicated the high selectivity of rifampicin toward the human isoform of PXR even at such a high dose (200 mg/kg). Our results disagree with the finding of Gebral-Chaloin *et al* who proposed that PXR, even when activated by

rifampicin, did not enhance the activity of CYP2C9 (114). Moreover, PCN, a selective rodent PXR activator, was able to induce the PXR-dependent activity of CYP2C9. Here, we propose that PXR is a crucial factor required for CYP2C9 induction, which is consistent with the recent finding of Chen *et al* (207).

In mouse liver, we also found CAR as another essential factor for CYP2C9 induction. Unlike PXR studies, in the CAR related studies we employed the mCAR isoform. This isoform was previously suggested as more sensitive for human CYP2C9 induction studies than the human CAR (114) which their studies exhibited difficulty because of its inherited nuclear localization in cell lines and its high constitutive activity (207). TCPOBOP, a potent selective mouse CAR activator, was able to significantly enhance the activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR via CAR activation (Figure 23). On the other hand, TCPOBOP was partially able to induce CYP2C9 activity even in absence of CAR co-transfection (data not shown), indicating the involvement of the endogenous mouse CAR in the activity of CYP2C9 5'-FR. Phenobarbital, known for its inductive activity toward CYP2C9 (195, 217), also enhanced the activity of CYP2C9 but to a lesser extent. The selectivity of this reagent in activation of CAR has been debated, since it was reported that it can up-regulate some CYP genes via PXR activation (218). However, many studies described the inductive activity of phenobarbital as mCAR selective (215). Our results agree with findings of Ferguston et al and Gerbal-Chaloin et al with regard to CAR's essential role in CYP2C9 induction.

After we found that PXR and CAR are essential factors for CYP2C9 activity, we proceeded in exploring the mechanisms underlying CYP2C9 induction by analyzing its 5'-FSs and identifying the essential element required for PXR/CAR-mediated activation. Various deletion constructs of CYP2C9 5'-FR, starting from as long as 10 kb to as short as 0.2 kb, were tested. As Figures 26 to 29 show, the p2C9-5K-luc, p2C9-3K-luc, and p2C9-2K-luc plasmid constructs were responsive to CAR and PXR activation in mouse liver and in cell lines as well. The shorter deletion construct, p2C9-1K-luc, showed obvious resistance to CAR/PXR activation, indicating that the p2C9-2K-luc, in its distal 1 kb sequences (from -1000 to -2000 bp), contains the essential elements required for CAR and PXR activation. Our observations are consistent with the findings of Gerbal-Chaloin et al and Chen at al who proposed the element located at -1839 bp as the primary element required for maximum PXR and CAR activation, at least in the first 10 kb of the CYP2C9 5'-FR (114, 207). Our data also proposed the element at -2899 bp to has a much less significant role if not exhibits some inhibitory effect, since the induction profile of the p2C9-3K-luc was less significant than that of the p2C9-2K-luc particularly under the in vitro circumstances.

Even though we agree with some of the previously published studies, our data are characterized by their significant and clear induction profiles. For example, Chen *at al* showed that PXR enhanced CYP2C9 5'-FR activity via rifampicin activation by 3-5fold in HepG2 cells, in our hands, the activity of the same CYP2C9 5'-FR (p2C9-3K-luc) was enhanced 18fold via PXR and rifampicin in mouse liver. The significance of the activity was even more clear when we used a longer sequences

(p2C9-5K-luc), 71fold (Figure 26). The enhanced induction seen with the p2C9-5K-luc can not be referred to sequence elements other than the common PXR element at - 1839 bp, therefore, the only factor we feel could contribute to such discrepancy is the *in vivo* environment in which we carried out our studies. Many recent studies realized the significant of such *in vivo* systems and have alternatively employed the hydrodynamic based transfection to study the gene regulation of CYP genes (142, 213, 219, 220).

Furthermore, unlike most of the previously conducted studies that investigated regulation of CYP genes using genomic context-modified CYP 5'-FSs, all plasmid constructs we used in our studies contained intact CYP2C9 5'-FSs, which reflect the real behavior of CYP genes *in vivo*. This is particularly relevant in view of recent findings that revealed that nuclear receptor binding to the target gene 5'-FR element is genomic context-dependent (221).

In summary, here we have demonstrated that the animal model established by the hydrodynamic procedure is suitable for gene regulation studies. This system showed realistic sensitivity to the injected gene sequence. It also showed clear responses toward different inductive gene elements and chemicals. From the applications point view, we have demonstrated that CYP2C9 induction is dependent primarily on CAR and PXR activation, and that these nuclear receptors exhibited their inductive activities via elements that reside between -1000 to -2000 bp of CYP2C9 5'-FR.

SUMMARY AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

Cytochrome P450 (CYP) is a superfamily of monooxygenases that mediate biotransformation of wide variety of endogenous and exogenous substances. These enzymes are expressed mainly in the liver and their expression is subjected to regulation. CYP gene expression can be regulated at the levels of transcription, mRNA processing and stabilization, translation, and enzyme stabilization (222). However, CYP induction mediated by xenobiotics mainly occurs at the transcriptional level where RNA polymerase II, cis-acting elements, nuclear receptors, and gene promoter elements are involved.

In this dissertation, I started my studies by establishing an animal model that allows study of the function of CYP 5'-FSs and their roles in regulating gene expression under the physiological conditions. Sequences of 5'-FRs of CYP genes were constructed into expression vectors upstream of the reporter gene. Functions of CYP 5'-FSs were then assessed *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vitro* CYP promoter activities were first studied in HepG2, BL-6, and 293 cell lines using optimized transfection of polyethyleneimine as the transfecting agent. The function of CYP 5'-FRs were then evaluated *in vivo* under the optimized conditions in mouse livers using the hydrodynamic procedure. This method allowed transfection of about 40% of mouse hepatocytes by rapid injection of naked DNA in saline. Furthermore, due to its

targeting mainly the liver, this method is ideally suited for study of hepatic genes, such as CYP.

The CYP plasmid constructs used in the first study were later used to evaluate the activity of CYP 5'-FR in sustaining transgene expression in mouse livers. Such a study would help us to further understand the role of CYP promoters on basal CYP gene expression in human liver. This was accomplished by evaluating plasmid DNA and mRNA levels in liver using Southern and Northern blot analysis. In this study, the activity of CYP promoters were assessed and compared to viral, hepatic, and non-hepatic promoters.

Finally, after the establishment of the animal model, I investigated the ability of this system to adapt the gene regulation studies, and studied the function of 5'-FR of CYP2C9 and the molecular mechanisms underlying its activity. Various CYP 2C9 5'-FSs (0.2, 1, 2, 3, 5, or 10 kb) were cloned into expression vectors containing luciferase as a reporter gene and their activities in driving transgene expression were evaluated. The effects of known CYP inducers, transcription factors, and nuclear receptors on CYP2C9 5'-FR activity were also investigated. Via plasmid deletion construction I identified the crucial element in 5'-FR of CYP2C9 that is required for its activation.

Many observations have been made through the course of the study. Among the tested CYP promoters, the CYP2D6 showed the strongest activity followed by CYP1A2, CYP3A4, and CYP2C9. The pattern of activity was similar in different cell lines as

well as in mouse livers. While these promoters were from hepatic origin, they were also functional in other tissues, suggesting that the 5'-FR sequences do not control the tissue specificity of gene expression. With regard to the relationship between the observed promoter activity and the basal CYP expression, a direct correlation was not seen. For example, CYP3A4 is the most abundant CYP enzyme in human liver but its promoter showed lower activity than that of CYP2D6 which has much lower expression level in the human liver. Future studies to investigate whether any other part of the genome sequences, i.e. intron, 3'-flanking region, or distal enhancer, are involved more in determining tissue specificity and the levels of basal gene expression, are indeed necessary. Furthermore, as discussed in chapter 3, lack of chromatin structure of the tested promoter sequences makes the promoter sequence freely accessible for transcription. It is known from the mechanism of gene transcription that the first step required for transcriptional activation is chromatin structure remodeling. Therefore, future studies will be required to assess the effect of the lack of chromatin structure on promoter activity as a basal gene expression determinant

The activity of the CYP2D6 promoter is interesting, particularly when we know that this gene, unlike most of CYP genes, is resistant to xenobiotic induction. Its strong promoter activity might explain its resistance to xenobiotics activation. The CYP2D6 promoter also showed the highest activity among tested CYP 5'-FRs for their activity in sustaining transgene expression in mouse livers and its initial activity was comparable to known strong promoters such as the viral CMV promoters. These
exciting observations justify the need for studies that could lead to identification of any unique elements responsible for CYP2D6 high promoter activity.

It was observed that the pattern of CYP promoter activity was similar to that of other tested non-CYP promoters with a initial high activity followed by a rapid decline to a lower level. RNA analysis revealed that the main cause for declining was transcriptional shutdown. Future studies should consider gene silencing mechanism and study if inclusion of CYP introns or 3'-FRs could help overcome such dilemma.

With regard to CYP2C9 5'-FR activity, I observed that CYP2C9 5'-FR activity was regulated mainly by PXR and CAR nuclear receptors. It was also demonstrated that , at least in the first 10 kb of the CYP2C9 5'-FR, the element located within the proximal 2 kb sequences (between -1000 and -2000 bp upstream of the coding sequence) was the main element required for PXR and CAR activation and for enhancing basal gene expression. One of the interesting findings was suppressing activity of the p2C9-10K-luc in mouse liver and in cell lines. Investigation of factors that led to this suppression would be a good subject for future studies.

In conclusion, the observations from this dissertation work have enhanced our understanding of the functional role of CYP 5'-FR in gene expression and regulation. They also have provided direct evidence to validate that the animal model established by the hydrodynamic-based injection as a suitable *in vivo* system for gene function studies. The system I established for gene function and induction studies can be modified to adapt gene down-regulation studies under the physiological conditions.

Prolongation of transgene expression at a high level would indeed allow for investigation into the roles of repressor elements, gene down-regulation by cytokines, or polymorphism/mutation in regulatory region of CYP genes, and as a useful tool for studying correlations between gene induction and inhibition. In addition, this system can be used to evaluate newly developed drugs for their activities to induce CYP gene expression and drug adverse effects.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Edwards IR and Aronson JK. Adverse drug reactions: definitions, diagnosis, and management. *Lancet* **356**: 1255-9 (2000).
- 2. Davis MP and Homsi J. The importance of cytochrome P450 monooxygenase CYP2D6 in palliative medicine. *Support Care Cancer* **9**: 442-51 (2001).
- 3. Johnson MD, Newkirk G, and White JR, Jr. Clinically significant drug interactions. *Postgrad Med* **105**: 193-5, 200, 205-6 passim (1999).
- 4. Severino G and Del Zompo M. Adverse drug reactions: role of pharmacogenomics. *Pharmacol Res* **49**: 363-73 (2004).
- 5. Ernst FR and Grizzle AJ. Drug-related morbidity and mortality: updating the cost-of-illness model. *J Am Pharm Assoc (Wash)* **41**: 192-9 (2001).
- 6. Borda IT, Slone D, and Jick H. Assessment of adverse reactions within a drug surveillance program. *Jama* **205**: 645-7 (1968).
- 7. Costa AJ. Potential drug interactions in an ambulatory geriatric population. *Fam Pract* **8**: 234-6 (1991).
- 8. Bernard SA and Bruera E. Drug interactions in palliative care. *J Clin Oncol* **18**: 1780-99 (2000).
- 9. Kuhlmann J and Muck W. Clinical-pharmacological strategies to assess drug interaction potential during drug development. *Drug Saf* **24**: 715-25 (2001).
- 10. Bertz RJ and Granneman GR. Use of in vitro and in vivo data to estimate the likelihood of metabolic pharmacokinetic interactions. *Clin Pharmacokinet* **32**: 210-58 (1997).

- 11. Beijnen JH and Schellens JH. Drug interactions in oncology. *Lancet Oncol* **5**: 489-96 (2004).
- 12. Brandon EF, Raap CD, Meijerman I, Beijnen JH, and Schellens JH. An update on in vitro test methods in human hepatic drug biotransformation research: pros and cons. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **189**: 233-46 (2003).
- 13. Breckenridge A and Orme M. Clinical implications of enzyme induction. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **179**: 421-31 (1971).
- 14. Guengerich FP. Metabolism of chemical carcinogens. *Carcinogenesis* **21**: 345-51 (2000).
- 15. Liddle C and Goodwin B. Regulation of hepatic drug metabolism: role of the nuclear receptors PXR and CAR. *Semin Liver Dis* **22**: 115-22 (2002).
- 16. Tucker GT. Advances in understanding drug metabolism and its contribution to variability in patient response. *Ther Drug Monit* **22**: 110-3 (2000).
- 17. Omura T. Forty years of cytochrome P450. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **266**: 690-8 (1999).
- 18. Nelson DR, Koymans L, Kamataki T, Stegeman JJ, Feyereisen R, Waxman DJ, Waterman MR, Gotoh O, Coon MJ, Estabrook RW, Gunsalus IC, and Nebert DW. P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, accession numbers and nomenclature. *Pharmacogenetics* **6**: 1-42 (1996).
- 19. Gonzalez FJ. The molecular biology of cytochrome P450s. *Pharmacol Rev* **40**: 243-88 (1988).
- 20. Guengerich FP. Characterization of human microsomal cytochrome P-450 enzymes. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **29**: 241-64 (1989).
- 21. Waxman DJ and Azaroff L. Phenobarbital induction of cytochrome P-450 gene expression. *Biochem J* 281 (Pt 3): 577-92 (1992).
- Gonzalez FJ. Molecular genetics of the P-450 superfamily. *Pharmacol Ther* 45: 1-38 (1990).

- 23. Nebert DW and Russell DW. Clinical importance of the cytochromes P450. *Lancet* **360**: 1155-62 (2002).
- 24. Omura T and Sato R. The Carbon Monoxide-Binding Pigment Of Liver Microsomes. I. Evidence For Its Hemoprotein Nature. *J Biol Chem* **239**: 2370-8 (1964).
- 25. Klingenberg M. Pigments of rat liver microsomes. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **75**: 376-86 (1958).
- 26. Estabrook RW, Hildebrandt AG, Baron J, Netter KJ, and Leibman K. A new spectral intermediate associated with cytochrome P-450 function in liver microsomes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **42**: 132-9 (1971).
- Nelson DR, Kamataki T, Waxman DJ, Guengerich FP, Estabrook RW, Feyereisen R, Gonzalez FJ, Coon MJ, Gunsalus IC, Gotoh O, and et al. The P450 superfamily: update on new sequences, gene mapping, accession numbers, early trivial names of enzymes, and nomenclature. *DNA Cell Biol* 12: 1-51 (1993).
- 28. Waxman DJ. P450 gene induction by structurally diverse xenochemicals: central role of nuclear receptors CAR, PXR, and PPAR. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **369**: 11-23 (1999).
- 29. Handschin C and Meyer UA. Induction of drug metabolism: the role of nuclear receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* **55**: 649-73 (2003).
- 30. Pirmohamed M and Park BK. Cytochrome P450 enzyme polymorphisms and adverse drug reactions. *Toxicology* **192**: 23-32 (2003).
- 31. Ingelman-Sundberg M. Polymorphism of cytochrome P450 and xenobiotic toxicity. *Toxicology* **181-182**: 447-52 (2002).
- 32. Wang H and LeCluyse EL. Role of orphan nuclear receptors in the regulation of drug-metabolising enzymes. *Clin Pharmacokinet* **42**: 1331-57 (2003).
- 33. Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Mimura M, Inui Y, and Guengerich FP. Interindividual variations in human liver cytochrome P-450 enzymes involved in the oxidation of drugs, carcinogens and toxic chemicals: studies with liver

microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **270**: 414-23 (1994).

- 34. Wolf CR and Smith G. Pharmacogenetics. *Br Med Bull* 55: 366-86 (1999).
- 35. Hildebrand CE, Gonzalez FJ, McBride OW, and Nebert DW. Assignment of the human 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin-inducible cytochrome P1-450 gene to chromosome 15. *Nucleic Acids Res* **13**: 2009-16 (1985).
- 36. Aoyama T, Yamano S, Guzelian PS, Gelboin HV, and Gonzalez FJ. Five of 12 forms of vaccinia virus-expressed human hepatic cytochrome P450 metabolically activate aflatoxin B1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **87**: 4790-3 (1990).
- 37. Hammons GJ, Milton D, Stepps K, Guengerich FP, Tukey RH, and Kadlubar FF. Metabolism of carcinogenic heterocyclic and aromatic amines by recombinant human cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Carcinogenesis* **18**: 851-4 (1997).
- 38. Hecht SS. Biochemistry, biology, and carcinogenicity of tobacco-specific Nnitrosamines. *Chem Res Toxicol* **11**: 559-603 (1998).
- 39. Wakabayashi K, Nagao M, Esumi H, and Sugimura T. Food-derived mutagens and carcinogens. *Cancer Res* **52**: 2092s-2098s (1992).
- 40. Rendic S and Di Carlo FJ. Human cytochrome P450 enzymes: a status report summarizing their reactions, substrates, inducers, and inhibitors. *Drug Metab Rev* **29**: 413-580 (1997).
- 41. Miners JO and Birkett DJ. The use of caffeine as a metabolic probe for human drug metabolizing enzymes. *Gen Pharmacol* **27**: 245-9 (1996).
- 42. Miller M, Opheim KE, Raisys VA, and Motulsky AG. Theophylline metabolism: variation and genetics. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* **35**: 170-82 (1984).
- 43. Sesardic D, Boobis AR, Edwards RJ, and Davies DS. A form of cytochrome P450 in man, orthologous to form d in the rat, catalyses the O-deethylation of phenacetin and is inducible by cigarette smoking. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **26**: 363-72 (1988).

- 44. Guengerich FP. Catalytic selectivity of human cytochrome P450 enzymes: relevance to drug metabolism and toxicity. *Toxicol Lett* **70**: 133-8 (1994).
- 45. Gray IC, Nobile C, Muresu R, Ford S, and Spurr NK. A 2.4-megabase physical map spanning the CYP2C gene cluster on chromosome 10q24. *Genomics* **28**: 328-32 (1995).
- 46. Miners JO and Birkett DJ. Use of tolbutamide as a substrate probe for human hepatic cytochrome P450 2C9. *Methods Enzymol* **272**: 139-45 (1996).
- 47. Rettie AE, Korzekwa KR, Kunze KL, Lawrence RF, Eddy AC, Aoyama T, Gelboin HV, Gonzalez FJ, and Trager WF. Hydroxylation of warfarin by human cDNA-expressed cytochrome P-450: a role for P-4502C9 in the etiology of (S)-warfarin-drug interactions. *Chem Res Toxicol* **5**: 54-9 (1992).
- 48. Heimark LD, Gibaldi M, Trager WF, O'Reilly RA, and Goulart DA. The mechanism of the warfarin-rifampin drug interaction in humans. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* **42**: 388-94 (1987).
- 49. Gonzalez FJ, Vilbois F, Hardwick JP, McBride OW, Nebert DW, Gelboin HV, and Meyer UA. Human debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase (P450IID1): cDNA and deduced amino acid sequence and assignment of the CYP2D locus to chromosome 22. *Genomics* **2**: 174-9 (1988).
- 50. Henthorn TK, Benitez J, Avram MJ, Martinez C, Llerena A, Cobaleda J, Krejcie TC, and Gibbons RD. Assessment of the debrisoquin and dextromethorphan phenotyping tests by gaussian mixture distributions analysis. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* **45**: 328-33 (1989).
- 51. Mahgoub A, Idle JR, Dring LG, Lancaster R, and Smith RL. Polymorphic hydroxylation of Debrisoquine in man. *Lancet* **2**: 584-6 (1977).
- 52. Eichelbaum M, Mineshita S, Ohnhaus EE, and Zekorn C. The influence of enzyme induction on polymorphic sparteine oxidation. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **22**: 49-53 (1986).
- 53. Kolble K. Regional mapping of short tandem repeats on human chromosome 10: cytochrome P450 gene CYP2E, D10S196, D10S220, and D10S225. *Genomics* **18**: 702-4 (1993).

- 54. Girre C, Lucas D, Hispard E, Menez C, Dally S, and Menez JF. Assessment of cytochrome P4502E1 induction in alcoholic patients by chlorzoxazone pharmacokinetics. *Biochem Pharmacol* **47**: 1503-8 (1994).
- 55. Lieber CS. Cytochrome P-4502E1: its physiological and pathological role. *Physiol Rev* **77**: 517-44 (1997).
- 56. Koop DR and Tierney DJ. Multiple mechanisms in the regulation of ethanolinducible cytochrome P450IIE1. *Bioessays* **12**: 429-35 (1990).
- 57. Gonzalez FJ, Ueno T, Umeno M, Song BJ, Veech RL, and Gelboin HV. Microsomal ethanol oxidizing system: transcriptional and posttranscriptional regulation of cytochrome P450, CYP2E1. *Alcohol Alcohol Suppl* **1**: 97-101 (1991).
- 58. Inoue K, Inazawa J, Nakagawa H, Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Guengerich FP, and Abe T. Assignment of the human cytochrome P-450 nifedipine oxidase gene (CYP3A4) to chromosome 7 at band q22.1 by fluorescence in situ hybridization. *Jpn J Hum Genet* **37**: 133-8 (1992).
- 59. Breimer DD, Schellens JH, and Soons PA. Nifedipine: variability in its kinetics and metabolism in man. *Pharmacol Ther* **44**: 445-54 (1989).
- 60. Watkins PB, Murray SA, Winkelman LG, Heuman DM, Wrighton SA, and Guzelian PS. Erythromycin breath test as an assay of glucocorticoid-inducible liver cytochromes P-450. Studies in rats and patients. *J Clin Invest* **83**: 688-97 (1989).
- 61. Kolars JC, Schmiedlin-Ren P, Schuetz JD, Fang C, and Watkins PB. Identification of rifampin-inducible P450IIIA4 (CYP3A4) in human small bowel enterocytes. *J Clin Invest* **90**: 1871-8 (1992).
- 62. Schuetz EG and Guzelian PS. Induction of cytochrome P-450 by glucocorticoids in rat liver. II. Evidence that glucocorticoids regulate induction of cytochrome P-450 by a nonclassical receptor mechanism. *J Biol Chem* **259**: 2007-12 (1984).
- 63. Goldstein JA and Linko P. Differential induction of two 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin-inducible forms of cytochrome P-450 in extrahepatic versus hepatic tissues. *Mol Pharmacol* **25**: 185-91 (1984).

- 64. Farin FM and Omiecinski CJ. Regiospecific expression of cytochrome P-450s and microsomal epoxide hydrolase in human brain tissue. *J Toxicol Environ Health* **40**: 317-35 (1993).
- 65. McDonnell WM, Scheiman JM, and Traber PG. Induction of cytochrome P450IA genes (CYP1A) by omeprazole in the human alimentary tract. *Gastroenterology* **103**: 1509-16 (1992).
- 66. Farin FM, Pohlman TH, and Omiecinski CJ. Expression of cytochrome P450s and microsomal epoxide hydrolase in primary cultures of human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **124**: 1-9 (1994).
- 67. Wei C, Caccavale RJ, Kehoe JJ, Thomas PE, and Iba MM. CYP1A2 is expressed along with CYP1A1 in the human lung. *Cancer Lett* **171**: 113-20 (2001).
- 68. Lechevrel M, Casson AG, Wolf CR, Hardie LJ, Flinterman MB, Montesano R, and Wild CP. Characterization of cytochrome P450 expression in human oesophageal mucosa. *Carcinogenesis* **20**: 243-8 (1999).
- 69. Goldstein JA, Faletto MB, Romkes-Sparks M, Sullivan T, Kitareewan S, Raucy JL, Lasker JM, and Ghanayem BI. Evidence that CYP2C19 is the major (S)-mephenytoin 4'-hydroxylase in humans. *Biochemistry* **33**: 1743-52 (1994).
- 70. Romkes M, Faletto MB, Blaisdell JA, Raucy JL, and Goldstein JA. Cloning and expression of complementary DNAs for multiple members of the human cytochrome P450IIC subfamily. *Biochemistry* **30**: 3247-55 (1991).
- 71. Lasker JM, Wester MR, Aramsombatdee E, and Raucy JL. Characterization of CYP2C19 and CYP2C9 from human liver: respective roles in microsomal tolbutamide, S-mephenytoin, and omeprazole hydroxylations. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **353**: 16-28 (1998).
- 72. Klose TS, Blaisdell JA, and Goldstein JA. Gene structure of CYP2C8 and extrahepatic distribution of the human CYP2Cs. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol* **13**: 289-95 (1999).
- 73. Zeldin DC, DuBois RN, Falck JR, and Capdevila JH. Molecular cloning, expression and characterization of an endogenous human cytochrome P450

arachidonic acid epoxygenase isoform. Arch Biochem Biophys 322: 76-86 (1995).

- 74. Kimura S, Umeno M, Skoda RC, Meyer UA, and Gonzalez FJ. The human debrisoquine 4-hydroxylase (CYP2D) locus: sequence and identification of the polymorphic CYP2D6 gene, a related gene, and a pseudogene. *Am J Hum Genet* **45**: 889-904 (1989).
- 75. Prueksaritanont T, Dwyer LM, and Cribb AE. (+)-bufuralol 1'-hydroxylation activity in human and rhesus monkey intestine and liver. *Biochem Pharmacol* **50**: 1521-5 (1995).
- 76. de Waziers I, Cugnenc PH, Yang CS, Leroux JP, and Beaune PH. Cytochrome P 450 isoenzymes, epoxide hydrolase and glutathione transferases in rat and human hepatic and extrahepatic tissues. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **253**: 387-94 (1990).
- 77. Fonne-Pfister R, Bargetzi MJ, and Meyer UA. MPTP, the neurotoxin inducing Parkinson's disease, is a potent competitive inhibitor of human and rat cytochrome P450 isozymes (P450bufI, P450db1) catalyzing debrisoquine 4-hydroxylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **148**: 1144-50 (1987).
- 78. Guidice JM, Marez D, Sabbagh N, Legrand-Andreoletti M, Spire C, Alcaide E, Lafitte JJ, and Broly F. Evidence for CYP2D6 expression in human lung. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 241: 79-85 (1997).
- 79. Romkes-Sparks M, Mnuskin A, Chern HD, Persad R, Fleming C, Sibley GN, Smith P, Wilkinson GR, and Branch RA. Correlation of polymorphic expression of CYP2D6 mRNA in bladder mucosa and tumor tissue to in vivo debrisoquine hydroxylase activity. *Carcinogenesis* **15**: 1955-61 (1994).
- 80. Hara H and Adachi T. Contribution of hepatocyte nuclear factor-4 to downregulation of CYP2D6 gene expression by nitric oxide. *Mol Pharmacol* **61**: 194-200 (2002).
- 81. Wrighton SA, Thomas PE, Ryan DE, and Levin W. Purification and characterization of ethanol-inducible human hepatic cytochrome P-450HLj. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **258**: 292-7 (1987).

- 82. Amet Y, Berthou F, Fournier G, Dreano Y, Bardou L, Cledes J, and Menez JF. Cytochrome P450 4A and 2E1 expression in human kidney microsomes. *Biochem Pharmacol* **53**: 765-71 (1997).
- 83. Wheeler CW, Wrighton SA, and Guenthner TM. Detection of human lung cytochromes P450 that are immunochemically related to cytochrome P450IIE1 and cytochrome P450IIIA. *Biochem Pharmacol* **44**: 183-7 (1992).
- 84. Raucy JL, Schultz ED, Wester MR, Arora S, Johnston DE, Omdahl JL, and Carpenter SP. Human lymphocyte cytochrome P450 2E1, a putative marker for alcohol-mediated changes in hepatic chlorzoxazone activity. *Drug Metab Dispos* **25**: 1429-35 (1997).
- 85. Rasheed A, Hines RN, and McCarver-May DG. Variation in induction of human placental CYP2E1: possible role in susceptibility to fetal alcohol syndrome? *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **144**: 396-400 (1997).
- 86. Beaune PH, Umbenhauer DR, Bork RW, Lloyd RS, and Guengerich FP. Isolation and sequence determination of a cDNA clone related to human cytochrome P-450 nifedipine oxidase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **83**: 8064-8 (1986).
- 87. Forrester LM, Henderson CJ, Glancey MJ, Back DJ, Park BK, Ball SE, Kitteringham NR, McLaren AW, Miles JS, Skett P, and et al. Relative expression of cytochrome P450 isoenzymes in human liver and association with the metabolism of drugs and xenobiotics. *Biochem J* 281 (Pt 2): 359-68 (1992).
- Wrighton SA, Brian WR, Sari MA, Iwasaki M, Guengerich FP, Raucy JL, Molowa DT, and Vandenbranden M. Studies on the expression and metabolic capabilities of human liver cytochrome P450IIIA5 (HLp3). *Mol Pharmacol* 38: 207-13 (1990).
- 89. Watkins PB, Wrighton SA, Schuetz EG, Molowa DT, and Guzelian PS. Identification of glucocorticoid-inducible cytochromes P-450 in the intestinal mucosa of rats and man. *J Clin Invest* **80**: 1029-36 (1987).
- 90. Stedman C, Robertson G, Coulter S, and Liddle C. Feed-forward regulation of bile acid detoxification by CYP3A4: studies in humanized transgenic mice. *J Biol Chem* **279**: 11336-43 (2004).

- 91. Murray GI, Barnes TS, Sewell HF, Ewen SW, Melvin WT, and Burke MD. The immunocytochemical localisation and distribution of cytochrome P-450 in normal human hepatic and extrahepatic tissues with a monoclonal antibody to human cytochrome P-450. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **25**: 465-75 (1988).
- 92. Anttila S, Hukkanen J, Hakkola J, Stjernvall T, Beaune P, Edwards RJ, Boobis AR, Pelkonen O, and Raunio H. Expression and localization of CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 in human lung. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **16**: 242-9 (1997).
- 93. Pelkonen O, Maenpaa J, Taavitsainen P, Rautio A, and Raunio H. Inhibition and induction of human cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes. *Xenobiotica* **28**: 1203-53 (1998).
- 94. Conney AH. Induction of microsomal enzymes by foreign chemicals and carcinogenesis by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: G. H. A. Clowes Memorial Lecture. *Cancer Res* **42**: 4875-917 (1982).
- 95. Gonzalez FJ and Kasper CB. Cloning of DNA complementary to rat liver NADPH-cytochrome c (P-450) oxidoreductase and cytochrome P-450b mRNAs. Evidence that phenobarbital augments transcription of specific genes. *J Biol Chem* **257**: 5962-8 (1982).
- 96. Adesnik M, Bar-Nun S, Maschio F, Zunich M, Lippman A, and Bard E. Mechanism of induction of cytochrome P-450 by phenobarbital. *J Biol Chem* **256**: 10340-5 (1981).
- 97. Campana C, Regazzi MB, Buggia I, and Molinaro M. Clinically significant drug interactions with cyclosporin. An update. *Clin Pharmacokinet* **30**: 141-79 (1996).
- 98. Klotz U and Ammon E. Clinical and toxicological consequences of the inductive potential of ethanol. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* **54**: 7-12 (1998).
- 99. Xie W, Uppal H, Saini SP, Mu Y, Little JM, Radominska-Pandya A, and Zemaitis MA. Orphan nuclear receptor-mediated xenobiotic regulation in drug metabolism. *Drug Discov Today* **9**: 442-9 (2004).
- 100. Zhou G, Cummings R, Li Y, Mitra S, Wilkinson HA, Elbrecht A, Hermes JD, Schaeffer JM, Smith RG, and Moller DE. Nuclear receptors have distinct affinities for coactivators: characterization by fluorescence resonance energy transfer. *Mol Endocrinol* 12: 1594-604 (1998).

- 101. Blumberg B, Sabbagh W, Jr., Juguilon H, Bolado J, Jr., van Meter CM, Ong ES, and Evans RM. SXR, a novel steroid and xenobiotic-sensing nuclear receptor. *Genes Dev* **12**: 3195-205 (1998).
- 102. Bertilsson G, Heidrich J, Svensson K, Asman M, Jendeberg L, Sydow-Backman M, Ohlsson R, Postlind H, Blomquist P, and Berkenstam A. Identification of a human nuclear receptor defines a new signaling pathway for CYP3A induction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **95**: 12208-13 (1998).
- 103. Lehmann JM, McKee DD, Watson MA, Willson TM, Moore JT, and Kliewer SA. The human orphan nuclear receptor PXR is activated by compounds that regulate CYP3A4 gene expression and cause drug interactions. *J Clin Invest* 102: 1016-23 (1998).
- 104. Goodwin B, Moore LB, Stoltz CM, McKee DD, and Kliewer SA. Regulation of the human CYP2B6 gene by the nuclear pregnane X receptor. *Mol Pharmacol* **60**: 427-31 (2001).
- 105. Gerbal-Chaloin S, Pascussi JM, Pichard-Garcia L, Daujat M, Waechter F, Fabre JM, Carrere N, and Maurel P. Induction of CYP2C genes in human hepatocytes in primary culture. *Drug Metab Dispos* **29**: 242-51 (2001).
- 106. Moore JT and Kliewer SA. Use of the nuclear receptor PXR to predict drug interactions. *Toxicology* **153**: 1-10 (2000).
- 107. Moore LB, Maglich JM, McKee DD, Wisely B, Willson TM, Kliewer SA, Lambert MH, and Moore JT. Pregnane X receptor (PXR), constitutive androstane receptor (CAR), and benzoate X receptor (BXR) define three pharmacologically distinct classes of nuclear receptors. *Mol Endocrinol* **16**: 977-86 (2002).
- 108. Ekins S and Erickson JA. A pharmacophore for human pregnane X receptor ligands. *Drug Metab Dispos* **30**: 96-9 (2002).
- 109. Moore LB, Goodwin B, Jones SA, Wisely GB, Serabjit-Singh CJ, Willson TM, Collins JL, and Kliewer SA. St. John's wort induces hepatic drug metabolism through activation of the pregnane X receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97: 7500-2 (2000).
- 110. Xie W, Barwick JL, Downes M, Blumberg B, Simon CM, Nelson MC, Neuschwander-Tetri BA, Brunt EM, Guzelian PS, and Evans RM. Humanized

xenobiotic response in mice expressing nuclear receptor SXR. *Nature* **406**: 435-9 (2000).

- 111. Baes M, Gulick T, Choi HS, Martinoli MG, Simha D, and Moore DD. A new orphan member of the nuclear hormone receptor superfamily that interacts with a subset of retinoic acid response elements. *Mol Cell Biol* **14**: 1544-52 (1994).
- 112. Forman BM, Tzameli I, Choi HS, Chen J, Simha D, Seol W, Evans RM, and Moore DD. Androstane metabolites bind to and deactivate the nuclear receptor CAR-beta. *Nature* **395**: 612-5 (1998).
- 113. Honkakoski P, Zelko I, Sueyoshi T, and Negishi M. The nuclear orphan receptor CAR-retinoid X receptor heterodimer activates the phenobarbital-responsive enhancer module of the CYP2B gene. *Mol Cell Biol* **18**: 5652-8 (1998).
- 114. Gerbal-Chaloin S, Daujat M, Pascussi JM, Pichard-Garcia L, Vilarem MJ, and Maurel P. Transcriptional regulation of CYP2C9 gene. Role of glucocorticoid receptor and constitutive androstane receptor. *J Biol Chem* **277**: 209-17 (2002).
- 115. Goodwin B, Hodgson E, D'Costa DJ, Robertson GR, and Liddle C. Transcriptional regulation of the human CYP3A4 gene by the constitutive androstane receptor. *Mol Pharmacol* **62**: 359-65 (2002).
- 116. Honkakoski P and Negishi M. Protein serine/threonine phosphatase inhibitors suppress phenobarbital-induced Cyp2b10 gene transcription in mouse primary hepatocytes. *Biochem J* **330** (Pt 2): 889-95 (1998).
- 117. Pascussi JM, Gerbal-Chaloin S, Fabre JM, Maurel P, and Vilarem MJ. Dexamethasone enhances constitutive androstane receptor expression in human hepatocytes: consequences on cytochrome P450 gene regulation. *Mol Pharmacol* 58: 1441-50 (2000).
- 118. Kawamoto T, Sueyoshi T, Zelko I, Moore R, Washburn K, and Negishi M. Phenobarbital-responsive nuclear translocation of the receptor CAR in induction of the CYP2B gene. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**: 6318-22 (1999).

- 119. Sueyoshi T and Negishi M. Phenobarbital response elements of cytochrome P450 genes and nuclear receptors. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **41**: 123-43 (2001).
- 120. Moore LB, Parks DJ, Jones SA, Bledsoe RK, Consler TG, Stimmel JB, Goodwin B, Liddle C, Blanchard SG, Willson TM, Collins JL, and Kliewer SA. Orphan nuclear receptors constitutive androstane receptor and pregnane X receptor share xenobiotic and steroid ligands. J Biol Chem 275: 15122-7 (2000).
- 121. Tzameli I, Pissios P, Schuetz EG, and Moore DD. The xenobiotic compound 1,4-bis[2-(3,5-dichloropyridyloxy)]benzene is an agonist ligand for the nuclear receptor CAR. *Mol Cell Biol* **20**: 2951-8 (2000).
- 122. Smirlis D, Muangmoonchai R, Edwards M, Phillips IR, and Shephard EA. Orphan receptor promiscuity in the induction of cytochromes p450 by xenobiotics. *J Biol Chem* **276**: 12822-6 (2001).
- 123. Benedict WF, Considine N, and Nebert DW. Genetic differences in aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase induction and benzo(a)pyrene-produced tumorigenesis in the mouse. *Mol Pharmacol* **9**: 266-77 (1973).
- 124. Poland A, Glover E, and Kende AS. Stereospecific, high affinity binding of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin by hepatic cytosol. Evidence that the binding species is receptor for induction of aryl hydrocarbon hydroxylase. *J Biol Chem* **251**: 4936-46 (1976).
- 125. Hankinson O. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor complex. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **35**: 307-40 (1995).
- 126. Burbach KM, Poland A, and Bradfield CA. Cloning of the Ah-receptor cDNA reveals a distinctive ligand-activated transcription factor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA **89**: 8185-9 (1992).
- 127. Nebert DW and Jones JE. Regulation of the mammalian cytochrome P1-450 (CYP1A1) gene. *Int J Biochem* **21**: 243-52 (1989).
- 128. Diaz D, Fabre I, Daujat M, Saint Aubert B, Bories P, Michel H, and Maurel P. Omeprazole is an aryl hydrocarbon-like inducer of human hepatic cytochrome P450. *Gastroenterology* **99**: 737-47 (1990).

- 129. Fuhr U. Induction of drug metabolising enzymes: pharmacokinetic and toxicological consequences in humans. *Clin Pharmacokinet* **38**: 493-504 (2000).
- 130. Issemann I and Green S. Activation of a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily by peroxisome proliferators. *Nature* **347**: 645-50 (1990).
- 131. Staels B, Dallongeville J, Auwerx J, Schoonjans K, Leitersdorf E, and Fruchart JC. Mechanism of action of fibrates on lipid and lipoprotein metabolism. *Circulation* **98**: 2088-93 (1998).
- 132. Forman BM, Chen J, and Evans RM. Hypolipidemic drugs, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and eicosanoids are ligands for peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors alpha and delta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**: 4312-7 (1997).
- 133. Schmiedlin-Ren P, Thummel KE, Fisher JM, Paine MF, Lown KS, and Watkins PB. Expression of enzymatically active CYP3A4 by Caco-2 cells grown on extracellular matrix-coated permeable supports in the presence of 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3. *Mol Pharmacol* **51**: 741-54 (1997).
- 134. Drocourt L, Ourlin JC, Pascussi JM, Maurel P, and Vilarem MJ. Expression of CYP3A4, CYP2B6, and CYP2C9 is regulated by the vitamin D receptor pathway in primary human hepatocytes. *J Biol Chem* **277**: 25125-32 (2002).
- 135. Chen KS and DeLuca HF. Cloning of the human 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D-3 24-hydroxylase gene promoter and identification of two vitamin D-responsive elements. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1263**: 1-9 (1995).
- 136. Goodwin B, Jones SA, Price RR, Watson MA, McKee DD, Moore LB, Galardi C, Wilson JG, Lewis MC, Roth ME, Maloney PR, Willson TM, and Kliewer SA. A regulatory cascade of the nuclear receptors FXR, SHP-1, and LRH-1 represses bile acid biosynthesis. *Mol Cell* **6**: 517-26 (2000).
- 137. Janowski BA, Willy PJ, Devi TR, Falck JR, and Mangelsdorf DJ. An oxysterol signalling pathway mediated by the nuclear receptor LXR alpha. *Nature* **383**: 728-31 (1996).
- 138. Forman BM, Goode E, Chen J, Oro AE, Bradley DJ, Perlmann T, Noonan DJ, Burka LT, McMorris T, Lamph WW, and et al. Identification of a nuclear receptor that is activated by farnesol metabolites. *Cell* **81**: 687-93 (1995).

- 139. Cheung C, Akiyama TE, Kudo G, and Gonzalez FJ. Hepatic expression of cytochrome P450s in hepatocyte nuclear factor 1-alpha (HNF1alpha)-deficient mice. *Biochem Pharmacol* **66**: 2011-20 (2003).
- 140. Jover R, Bort R, Gomez-Lechon MJ, and Castell JV. Cytochrome P450 regulation by hepatocyte nuclear factor 4 in human hepatocytes: a study using adenovirus-mediated antisense targeting. *Hepatology* **33**: 668-75 (2001).
- 141. Corchero J, Granvil CP, Akiyama TE, Hayhurst GP, Pimprale S, Feigenbaum L, Idle JR, and Gonzalez FJ. The CYP2D6 humanized mouse: effect of the human CYP2D6 transgene and HNF4alpha on the disposition of debrisoquine in the mouse. *Mol Pharmacol* **60**: 1260-7 (2001).
- 142. Tirona RG, Lee W, Leake BF, Lan LB, Cline CB, Lamba V, Parviz F, Duncan SA, Inoue Y, Gonzalez FJ, Schuetz EG, and Kim RB. The orphan nuclear receptor HNF4alpha determines PXR- and CAR-mediated xenobiotic induction of CYP3A4. *Nat Med* **9**: 220-4 (2003).
- 143. Bort R, Gomez-Lechon MJ, Castell JV, and Jover R. Role of hepatocyte nuclear factor 3 gamma in the expression of human CYP2C genes. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **426**: 63-72 (2004).
- 144. Jover R, Bort R, Gomez-Lechon MJ, and Castell JV. Re-expression of C/EBP alpha induces CYP2B6, CYP2C9 and CYP2D6 genes in HepG2 cells. *FEBS Lett* **431**: 227-30 (1998).
- 145. Liddle C and Robertson GR. Predicting inductive drug-drug interactions. *Pharmacogenomics* **4**: 141-52 (2003).
- 146. Zhang J, Huang W, Chua SS, Wei P, and Moore DD. Modulation of acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity by the xenobiotic receptor CAR. *Science* **298**: 422-4 (2002).
- 147. Robertson GR, Field J, Goodwin B, Bierach S, Tran M, Lehnert A, and Liddle C. Transgenic mouse models of human CYP3A4 gene regulation. *Mol Pharmacol* 64: 42-50 (2003).
- 148. Zhang W, Purchio AF, Chen K, Wu J, Lu L, Coffee R, Contag PR, and West DB. A transgenic mouse model with a luciferase reporter for studying in vivo transcriptional regulation of the human CYP3A4 gene. *Drug Metab Dispos* 31: 1054-64 (2003).

- 149. Hwang DY, Chae KR, Shin DH, Hwang JH, Lim CH, Kim YJ, Kim BJ, Goo JS, Shin YY, Jang IS, Cho JS, and Kim YK. Xenobiotic response in humanized double transgenic mice expressing tetracycline-controlled transactivator and human CYP1B1. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **395**: 32-40 (2001).
- 150. Cheung C, Yu AM, Ward JM, Akiyama TE, Feigenbaum L, and Gonzalez FJ. The CYP2E1 humanized transgenic mouse: role in acetaminophen hepatotoxicity. *Drug Metab Dispos* (2004).
- 151. Cheung C, Akiyama TE, Ward JM, Nicol CJ, Feigenbaum L, Vinson C, and Gonzalez FJ. Diminished hepatocellular proliferation in mice humanized for the nuclear receptor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha. *Cancer Res* **64**: 3849-54 (2004).
- 152. Moriguchi T, Motohashi H, Hosoya T, Nakajima O, Takahashi S, Ohsako S, Aoki Y, Nishimura N, Tohyama C, Fujii-Kuriyama Y, and Yamamoto M. Distinct response to dioxin in an arylhydrocarbon receptor (AHR)-humanized mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**: 5652-7 (2003).
- 153. Donato MT and Castell JV. Strategies and molecular probes to investigate the role of cytochrome P450 in drug metabolism: focus on in vitro studies. *Clin Pharmacokinet* **42**: 153-78 (2003).
- 154. Fischer D, Bieber T, Li Y, Elsasser HP, and Kissel T. A novel non-viral vector for DNA delivery based on low molecular weight, branched polyethylenimine: effect of molecular weight on transfection efficiency and cytotoxicity. *Pharm Res* 16: 1273-9 (1999).
- 155. Ikeya K, Jaiswal AK, Owens RA, Jones JE, Nebert DW, and Kimura S. Human CYP1A2: sequence, gene structure, comparison with the mouse and rat orthologous gene, and differences in liver 1A2 mRNA expression. *Mol Endocrinol* **3**: 1399-408 (1989).
- 156. de Morais SM, Schweikl H, Blaisdell J, and Goldstein JA. Gene structure and upstream regulatory regions of human CYP2C9 and CYP2C18. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **194**: 194-201 (1993).
- 157. Umeno M, McBride OW, Yang CS, Gelboin HV, and Gonzalez FJ. Human ethanol-inducible P450IIE1: complete gene sequence, promoter characterization, chromosome mapping, and cDNA-directed expression. *Biochemistry* 27: 9006-13 (1988).

- 158. Hashimoto H, Toide K, Kitamura R, Fujita M, Tagawa S, Itoh S, and Kamataki T. Gene structure of CYP3A4, an adult-specific form of cytochrome P450 in human livers, and its transcriptional control. *Eur J Biochem* **218**: 585-95 (1993).
- 159. Sambrook J, Fritsch EF, and Maniatis T. *Molecular cloning: a laboratory manual*, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y., 1989.
- 160. Liu F, Song Y, and Liu D. Hydrodynamics-based transfection in animals by systemic administration of plasmid DNA. *Gene Ther* **6**: 1258-66 (1999).
- 161. Venkatakrishnan K, Von Moltke LL, and Greenblatt DJ. Human drug metabolism and the cytochromes P450: application and relevance of in vitro models. *J Clin Pharmacol* **41**: 1149-79 (2001).
- 162. Hasler JA. Pharmacogenetics of cytochromes P450. *Mol Aspects Med* **20**: 12-24, 25-137 (1999).
- 163. Ogg MS, Williams JM, Tarbit M, Goldfarb PS, Gray TJ, and Gibson GG. A reporter gene assay to assess the molecular mechanisms of xenobioticdependent induction of the human CYP3A4 gene in vitro. *Xenobiotica* 29: 269-79 (1999).
- 164. Gibson GG, Plant NJ, Swales KE, Ayrton A, and El-Sankary W. Receptordependent transcriptional activation of cytochrome P4503A genes: induction mechanisms, species differences and interindividual variation in man. *Xenobiotica* 32: 165-206 (2002).
- 165. Godbey WT, Wu KK, and Mikos AG. Poly(ethylenimine) and its role in gene delivery. *J Control Release* **60**: 149-60 (1999).
- 166. Godbey WT and Mikos AG. Recent progress in gene delivery using non-viral transfer complexes. *J Control Release* **72**: 115-25 (2001).
- 167. Felgner PL, Gadek TR, Holm M, Roman R, Chan HW, Wenz M, Northrop JP, Ringold GM, and Danielsen M. Lipofection: a highly efficient, lipid-mediated DNA-transfection procedure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**: 7413-7 (1987).

- 168. Wagner E, Cotten M, Foisner R, and Birnstiel ML. Transferrin-polycation-DNA complexes: the effect of polycations on the structure of the complex and DNA delivery to cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **88**: 4255-9 (1991).
- 169. Gao X and Huang L. Cationic liposome-mediated gene transfer. *Gene Ther* **2**: 710-22 (1995).
- 170. Mulligan RC. The basic science of gene therapy. Science 260: 926-32 (1993).
- 171. Kunath K, von Harpe A, Fischer D, Petersen H, Bickel U, Voigt K, and Kissel T. Low-molecular-weight polyethylenimine as a non-viral vector for DNA delivery: comparison of physicochemical properties, transfection efficiency and in vivo distribution with high-molecular-weight polyethylenimine. J Control Release 89: 113-25 (2003).
- 172. Rodriguez-Antona C, Donato MT, Boobis A, Edwards RJ, Watts PS, Castell JV, and Gomez-Lechon MJ. Cytochrome P450 expression in human hepatocytes and hepatoma cell lines: molecular mechanisms that determine lower expression in cultured cells. *Xenobiotica* **32**: 505-20 (2002).
- 173. Zhang G, Gao X, Song YK, Vollmer R, Stolz DB, Gasiorowski JZ, Dean DA, and Liu D. Hydroporation as the mechanism of hydrodynamic delivery. *Gene Ther* **11**: 675-82 (2004).
- 174. Zhang G, Song YK, and Liu D. Long-term expression of human alphalantitrypsin gene in mouse liver achieved by intravenous administration of plasmid DNA using a hydrodynamics-based procedure. *Gene Ther* **7**: 1344-9 (2000).
- 175. Boussif O, Lezoualc'h F, Zanta MA, Mergny MD, Scherman D, Demeneix B, and Behr JP. A versatile vector for gene and oligonucleotide transfer into cells in culture and in vivo: polyethylenimine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **92**: 7297-301 (1995).
- 176. Abdallah B, Hassan A, Benoist C, Goula D, Behr JP, and Demeneix BA. A powerful nonviral vector for in vivo gene transfer into the adult mammalian brain: polyethylenimine. *Hum Gene Ther* **7**: 1947-54 (1996).
- 177. Pollard H, Remy JS, Loussouarn G, Demolombe S, Behr JP, and Escande D. Polyethylenimine but not cationic lipids promotes transgene delivery to the nucleus in mammalian cells. *J Biol Chem* **273**: 7507-11 (1998).

- 178. Morimoto K, Nishikawa M, Kawakami S, Nakano T, Hattori Y, Fumoto S, Yamashita F, and Hashida M. Molecular weight-dependent gene transfection activity of unmodified and galactosylated polyethyleneimine on hepatoma cells and mouse liver. *Mol Ther* **7**: 254-61 (2003).
- Cairns W, Smith CA, McLaren AW, and Wolf CR. Characterization of the human cytochrome P4502D6 promoter. A potential role for antagonistic interactions between members of the nuclear receptor family. *J Biol Chem* 271: 25269-76 (1996).
- 180. Quandt K, Frech K, Karas H, Wingender E, and Werner T. MatInd and MatInspector: new fast and versatile tools for detection of consensus matches in nucleotide sequence data. *Nucleic Acids Res* 23: 4878-84 (1995).
- 181. Tardiff J and Krauter KS. Divergent expression of alpha1-protease inhibitor genes in mouse and human. *Nucleic Acids Res* **26**: 3794-9 (1998).
- 182. Gorski K, Carneiro M, and Schibler U. Tissue-specific in vitro transcription from the mouse albumin promoter. *Cell* **47**: 767-76 (1986).
- 183. Foecking MK and Hofstetter H. Powerful and versatile enhancer-promoter unit for mammalian expression vectors. *Gene* **45**: 101-5 (1986).
- 184. Xu ZL, Mizuguchi H, Ishii-Watabe A, Uchida E, Mayumi T, and Hayakawa T. Optimization of transcriptional regulatory elements for constructing plasmid vectors. *Gene* **272**: 149-56 (2001).
- 185. Kramer MG, Barajas M, Razquin N, Berraondo P, Rodrigo M, Wu C, Qian C, Fortes P, and Prieto J. In vitro and in vivo comparative study of chimeric liver-specific promoters. *Mol Ther* **7**: 375-85 (2003).
- 186. Chen ZY, Yant SR, He CY, Meuse L, Shen S, and Kay MA. Linear DNAs concatemerize in vivo and result in sustained transgene expression in mouse liver. *Mol Ther* **3**: 403-10 (2001).
- 187. Gill DR, Smyth SE, Goddard CA, Pringle IA, Higgins CF, Colledge WH, and Hyde SC. Increased persistence of lung gene expression using plasmids containing the ubiquitin C or elongation factor 1alpha promoter. *Gene Ther* 8: 1539-46 (2001).

- 188. Hartikka J, Sawdey M, Cornefert-Jensen F, Margalith M, Barnhart K, Nolasco M, Vahlsing HL, Meek J, Marquet M, Hobart P, Norman J, and Manthorpe M. An improved plasmid DNA expression vector for direct injection into skeletal muscle. *Hum Gene Ther* 7: 1205-17 (1996).
- 189. Cui FD, Kishida T, Ohashi S, Asada H, Yasutomi K, Satoh E, Kubo T, Fushiki S, Imanishi J, and Mazda O. Highly efficient gene transfer into murine liver achieved by intravenous administration of naked Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)-based plasmid vectors. *Gene Ther* 8: 1508-13 (2001).
- 190. Miao CH, Ohashi K, Patijn GA, Meuse L, Ye X, Thompson AR, and Kay MA. Inclusion of the hepatic locus control region, an intron, and untranslated region increases and stabilizes hepatic factor IX gene expression in vivo but not in vitro. *Molecular Therapy* **1**: 522-532 (2000).
- 191. Miao CH, Thompson AR, Loeb K, and Ye X. Long-term and therapeutic-level hepatic gene expression of human factor IX after naked plasmid transfer in vivo. *Molecular Therapy* **3**: 947-957 (2001).
- 192. Yew NS, Zhao HM, Przybylska M, Wu IH, Tousignant JD, Scheule RK, and Cheng SH. CpG-depleted plasmid DNA vectors with enhanced safety and long-term gene expression in vivo. *Molecular Therapy* **5**: 731-738 (2002).
- 193. Kramer MG, Barajas M, Razquin N, Berraondo P, Rodrigo M, Wu C, Qian C, Fortes P, and Prieto J. In vitro and in vivo comparative study of chimeric liver-specific promoters. *Molecular Therapy* **7**: 375-385 (2003).
- 194. Renwick AB, Watts PS, Edwards RJ, Barton PT, Guyonnet I, Price RJ, Tredger JM, Pelkonen O, Boobis AR, and Lake BG. Differential maintenance of cytochrome P450 enzymes in cultured precision-cut human liver slices. *Drug Metab Dispos* 28: 1202-9 (2000).
- 195. Raucy JL, Mueller L, Duan K, Allen SW, Strom S, and Lasker JM. Expression and induction of CYP2C P450 enzymes in primary cultures of human hepatocytes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **302**: 475-82 (2002).
- 196. Siewert E, Bort R, Kluge R, Heinrich PC, Castell J, and Jover R. Hepatic cytochrome P450 down-regulation during aseptic inflammation in the mouse is interleukin 6 dependent. *Hepatology* **32**: 49-55 (2000).

- 197. Inoue K, Inazawa J, Suzuki Y, Shimada T, Yamazaki H, Guengerich FP, and Abe T. Fluorescence in situ hybridization analysis of chromosomal localization of three human cytochrome P450 2C genes (CYP2C8, 2C9, and 2C10) at 10q24.1. *Jpn J Hum Genet* **39**: 337-43 (1994).
- 198. Meehan RR, Gosden JR, Rout D, Hastie ND, Friedberg T, Adesnik M, Buckland R, van Heyningen V, Fletcher J, and Spurr NK. Human cytochrome P-450 PB-1: a multigene family involved in mephenytoin and steroid oxidations that maps to chromosome 10. *Am J Hum Genet* **42**: 26-37 (1988).
- 199. Goldstein JA and de Morais SM. Biochemistry and molecular biology of the human CYP2C subfamily. *Pharmacogenetics* **4**: 285-99 (1994).
- 200. Richardson TH, Griffin KJ, Jung F, Raucy JL, and Johnson EF. Targeted antipeptide antibodies to cytochrome P450 2C18 based on epitope mapping of an inhibitory monoclonal antibody to P450 2C51. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **338**: 157-64 (1997).
- 201. Wrighton SA and Stevens JC. The human hepatic cytochromes P450 involved in drug metabolism. *Crit Rev Toxicol* **22**: 1-21 (1992).
- 202. Goldstein JA. Clinical relevance of genetic polymorphisms in the human CYP2C subfamily. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* **52**: 349-55 (2001).
- 203. Schwarz UI. Clinical relevance of genetic polymorphisms in the human CYP2C9 gene. *Eur J Clin Invest* **33 Suppl 2**: 23-30 (2003).
- 204. Relling MV, Aoyama T, Gonzalez FJ, and Meyer UA. Tolbutamide and mephenytoin hydroxylation by human cytochrome P450s in the CYP2C subfamily. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **252**: 442-7 (1990).
- 205. Veronese ME, Mackenzie PI, Doecke CJ, McManus ME, Miners JO, and Birkett DJ. Tolbutamide and phenytoin hydroxylations by cDNA-expressed human liver cytochrome P4502C9. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **175**: 1112-8 (1991).
- 206. Runge D, Kohler C, Kostrubsky VE, Jager D, Lehmann T, Runge DM, May U, Stolz DB, Strom SC, Fleig WE, and Michalopoulos GK. Induction of cytochrome P450 (CYP)1A1, CYP1A2, and CYP3A4 but not of CYP2C9, CYP2C19, multidrug resistance (MDR-1) and multidrug resistance associated

protein (MRP-1) by prototypical inducers in human hepatocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 273: 333-41 (2000).

- 207. Chen Y, Ferguson SS, Negishi M, and Goldstein JA. Induction of human CYP2C9 by rifampicin, hyperforin, and phenobarbital is mediated by the pregnane X receptor. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **308**: 495-501 (2004).
- 208. Akiyama TE and Gonzalez FJ. Regulation of P450 genes by liver-enriched transcription factors and nuclear receptors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1619**: 223-34 (2003).
- 209. Ibeanu GC and Goldstein JA. Transcriptional regulation of human CYP2C genes: functional comparison of CYP2C9 and CYP2C18 promoter regions. *Biochemistry* **34**: 8028-36 (1995).
- 210. Pascussi JM, Drocourt L, Fabre JM, Maurel P, and Vilarem MJ. Dexamethasone induces pregnane X receptor and retinoid X receptor-alpha expression in human hepatocytes: synergistic increase of CYP3A4 induction by pregnane X receptor activators. *Mol Pharmacol* **58**: 361-72 (2000).
- 211. Pascussi JM, Gerbal-Chaloin S, Drocourt L, Maurel P, and Vilarem MJ. The expression of CYP2B6, CYP2C9 and CYP3A4 genes: a tangle of networks of nuclear and steroid receptors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1619**: 243-53 (2003).
- 212. Pascussi JM, Busson-Le Coniat M, Maurel P, and Vilarem MJ. Transcriptional analysis of the orphan nuclear receptor constitutive androstane receptor (NR1I3) gene promoter: identification of a distal glucocorticoid response element. *Mol Endocrinol* **17**: 42-55 (2003).
- 213. Schuetz E, Lan L, Yasuda K, Kim R, Kocarek TA, Schuetz J, and Strom S. Development of a real-time in vivo transcription assay: application reveals pregnane X receptor-mediated induction of CYP3A4 by cancer chemotherapeutic agents. *Mol Pharmacol* **62**: 439-45 (2002).
- 214. Magin-Lachmann C, Kotzamanis G, D'Aiuto L, Cooke H, Huxley C, and Wagner E. In vitro and in vivo delivery of intact BAC DNA comparison of different methods. *Journal of Gene Medicine* **6**: 195-209 (2004).
- 215. Ferguson SS, LeCluyse EL, Negishi M, and Goldstein JA. Regulation of human CYP2C9 by the constitutive androstane receptor: discovery of a new distal binding site. *Mol Pharmacol* **62**: 737-46 (2002).

- 216. Zilly W, Breimer DD, and Richter E. Stimulation of drug metabolism by rifampicin in patients with cirrhosis or cholestasis measured by increased hexobarbital and tolbutamide clearance. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* **11**: 287-93 (1977).
- 217. Madan A, Graham RA, Carroll KM, Mudra DR, Burton LA, Krueger LA, Downey AD, Czerwinski M, Forster J, Ribadeneira MD, Gan LS, LeCluyse EL, Zech K, Robertson P, Jr., Koch P, Antonian L, Wagner G, Yu L, and Parkinson A. Effects of prototypical microsomal enzyme inducers on cytochrome P450 expression in cultured human hepatocytes. *Drug Metab Dispos* 31: 421-31 (2003).
- 218. Luo G, Cunningham M, Kim S, Burn T, Lin J, Sinz M, Hamilton G, Rizzo C, Jolley S, Gilbert D, Downey A, Mudra D, Graham R, Carroll K, Xie J, Madan A, Parkinson A, Christ D, Selling B, LeCluyse E, and Gan LS. CYP3A4 induction by drugs: correlation between a pregnane X receptor reporter gene assay and CYP3A4 expression in human hepatocytes. *Drug Metab Dispos* 30: 795-804 (2002).
- 219. Rivera-Rivera I, Kim J, and Kemper B. Transcriptional analysis in vivo of the hepatic genes, Cyp2b9 and Cyp2b10, by intravenous administration of plasmid DNA in mice. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1619**: 254-62 (2003).
- 220. Zhang W, Purchio A, Chen K, Burns SM, Contag CH, and Contag PR. In vivo activation of the human CYP3A4 promoter in mouse liver and regulation by pregnane X receptors. *Biochem Pharmacol* **65**: 1889-96 (2003).
- 221. Song X, Xie M, Zhang H, Li Y, Sachdeva K, and Yan B. The pregnane X receptor binds to response elements in a genomic context-dependent manner, and PXR activator rifampicin selectively alters the binding among target genes. *Drug Metab Dispos* **32**: 35-42 (2004).
- 222. Bresnick E, Foldes R, and Hines RN. Induction of cytochrome P450 by xenobiotics. *Pharmacol Rev* **36**: 43S-51S (1984).